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June 4, 2025

Her Excellency, Governor Kelly A. Ayotte
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

1) Authorize the New Hampshire Department of Energy (Department) to enter into a SOLE
SOURCE contract with Southwestern Communit\- Services, Inc., Keene, NH, Vendor #177511,
in the amount of $278,107 for the federal Weatherization Assistance Program (WAP) effective
upon Governor and Executive Council approval for the period July 1, 2025 through June 30,
2026. 100% Federal Funds.

Funds to support this request are anticipated to be available in the following account in FY 2026
upon availability and continued appropriation of funds in the future operating budget.

NH Department of Eneruv Low Income Weatherization FY 2026

02-52-52-520510-33560000-074-500587 Grants for Pub Assist & Relief $278,107

2) Further request authorization to advance to the vendor $24,462 of the above-referenced
contract amount.

EXPLANATION

This contract is SOLE SOURCE because of U.S. Department of Energy's (USDOE) grant
guidance (10 CFR 440.15) giving Community Action Agencies preferred status for the
Weatherization Assistance Program due to their non-profit status, their role providing a range of
services to clients eligible for the Weatherization Assistance Program (WAP), and their historical
performance delivering the weatherization program.

The Department is responsible for administering New Hampshire's statewide Weatherization
Assistance Program, funded by a grant from USDOE. The objective of the program is to
weatherize homes to reduce energy consumption and energy costs in eligible low income
households. Priority is given to households that include people who are elderly, disabled, or
children, and households with high energy usage. The Department contracts with New
Hampshire's Community Action Agencies to provide weatherization services at the local level.
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The Department estimates that the USDOE's WAP grant award to New Hampshire will
contribute to the wealherization of approximately 14 homes in the Stale.

The requested advance of funds will enable Southwestern Community Services, Inc. to operate
the program between monthly reimbursements from the State, and may only be used for
allowable program expenses as detailed in Exhibit C.

In the event Federal Funds are no longer available, General Funds will not be requested to
support this contract.

espectfully submitted,

Jared S. Chicoine

Commissioner



FORM NUMBER P-37 (version 2/23/2023)

agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT
The State of Nevv Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.1 State Agency Name

Department of Energy

1.2 Stale Agency Address

21 S. Fruit St., Ste. 10, Concord, NH 03301

1.3 Contractor Name

Southwcsicm Community Services, Inc.

1.4 Contractor .Address

63 Community Way. PC Bo.x 603, Keene, NH 03431 -0603

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

603-352.7512

1.6 Account Unit and Class

33560000-074

1.7 Completion Date

06/30/2026,

1.8 Price Limitation

5278,107

t .y Contracting Utticcr for State Agency

Joshua Elliott, Director, Division of Policy and Programs

I.IO State Agency Telephone Number

603-271-6003

1. II Contractor Signature

£ianUM^ Daic: 6H/38f35
1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory

Beth Daniels. CEO

1.13 ^ate Agen^ Stature 1.14 Name and Title of Slate Agency Signatoiy

*7afed S. Chicoinc. Commissioner

i.iy Approval by thcN.H. DcpaTtmcniof Administration.'Division of Personnel/f/c/jp/ictift/e;

/  Director, On:

1.16 Approval by the Attorney General (Form. Substance and Execution) (if applicable)

5/5/2025

1.17 AfJ^roval by the Governor and Executive Council (if applicable)

G&C hem number: G&C Meeting Date:
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2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED. The State of New

Hampshire, acting through the agency identified In block I.I
("State"), engages contractor identified In block, 1.3 ("Contractor^)
to perform, and the Contractqr'shall perform, the work or sale of
goods, or both, identified wd more particularly described in the
attached EXHIBIT^B which is incorporated herein by reference
("Se^ices").

3. EFFECTIVE DATEyCOMPLETION OF SERVICES.

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of .this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval' of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State ofNew Hampshire, if applicable,
this A^ement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall
become effective on the date the Goyemor and ExNutlve Council
approve this.Agreernent, unless no such approval is required, in
whlchi case the Agreement shall become effective on the date the
Agreement is signed by the State Agency as shown in block 1.13
("Effectivie Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the Effective
Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior to the
Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the Contractor,
and in'the event that this Agreement docs not become effective, the'
State shall have no liability to the Contractor, including without
limitation, any obligation to pay the Contractor for any costs
incurred or Services performed."
3.3 Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary,
all obligations of the State hereunder, including, without limitation,.
the continuance of payments hereunder, are contingent upon the
availability and continued appropriation of funds, In no event shall'

'the State be liable for^any'payments hereunder in excess of such
available appropriated funds. In. the event of a r^uctioh or
termination of appropriated funds by arty state or federal legislative
or executive action that reduces, eliminates or otherwise.modifies
the appropriation or availability of funding for ̂ is Agreement ̂ d
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT B, iti whole or in part,
the State shall have the'right to withhold payrhent untifsuch funds
become available, if ever, and ,shall have the right to reduce or
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such reduction or termination. The
State shall not be rcqtiircd to transfer funds from any other account
or source to the Account idcntiflc'd in block 1.6 in the event funds
in that Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRiCE/PRICE LIMITATION/ PAYMENT.
5.1 The contr^ price, method of payment, and terms of payment
are identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C
which is irtcorporated heroin by reference.
5.2 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contnuy, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances. In no
event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made
hereunder, e.xceed the Price Limitation set forth in block l.8.;tHe
payment by the State of the contract price shall be the only and the
complete reimbursement to the Contractor for atl expenses; of
whatever n^re incurred by the Conpactpr in the. performance

hereof, and shall be the only and the complete compensation to the
Contractor for the Services.

5.3 The State- reserves the right to offset from "any amounts
othmvise payable to the Contractor under ̂ is Agreement those
liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7
through RSA 80:7-c or tiny other provision of taw.
5.4.ThC'State's liability.under this Agreement shall be limits to
monetary damages not to exceed the total fees paid. The Contractor
agrees that it has an adequate remedy at law for any breach of this
Agreement by the State and hereby waives any right'to spwific
peribrmance or other equitable remedies against Ihe'State,

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS AND

REGULATIONS/EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance, of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws,
regulations, and orders of federal,-state, county or municipal
authorities which impose any obligation or duty upon the
Contractor, including, but hot limited to, civil rights and equal
employment opportunity laws and the Governor's order on Respect
and Civility in the Workplace, Executive order 2020^01. In
addition, if this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of the
United States, the Contractor shall .comply with all federal
executive orders, hiles, regulations and statutes, and with any rules,
regulations and guidelines as the State or the United States issue to
Implement these regulations. The Contractor shall also comply
with all applicable intellectual property laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractdr 'shall not
discriminate against employees or applicants for employment
because of age, sex, se.xual orientation; race,,color, marital status,
physical or mental disability, religious creed, national origin;
gender identity, or gender expression, and will take a^mtalive
action to prevent such discrimination, unless exempt by state or
federal law. The Contractor shall ensure any 'subcontractors
comply'with"these nondiscriminaiion requirements.
6.3 No payments or pansfers of.vtilue by Contractor or its
"representatives in connection with this Agreement have or shall be
made which have the pur|Mse or effect "of public-or commercial
briber)', or acceptance of of.acquiescence in extortion, kickbacks,
or other unlawful or improper means of obtaining'business..
6.4. The Contractor agrees to permit the State or United Stales
access to any of the Contractor's books; records and accounts for
the puHMse of ascertaining compliance with thIS'Agreemntt and
all rules, regulations and orders pertaining to the covenants, terms
and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL. '

ll The Contractor shall at its own e.xpense provide all personnel
necessary to perform the Sen-ices. The Contractor warrants that all
perwnnel engt^ed in the Services shall be qualified to perform the
Services, and shall ̂  properly licensed and otherwi^ authorized
to do so under.all,applicable laws.
7.2 The Contracting OfTicer specified in block 1.9, or any
succcswr, shall be the State's point of contact pertaining to this
Agreement.

Page 2 of 4
Contractor Initials

Date^g^aS



8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDI^
8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder ("Event
of Default"):
8.1.1 failure to perform the Seivices satisfactorily or on schedule;
8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or
8!l j failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition of
this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurtcncc.of any Event,of Default, the State may
take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and requiring it u> be remedied within, in the absence of a
greater or lesser specification of time, thi^ (30) calendar days
from the dale of the notice; and If the Event of Default is not timely
cu^. -tcrminate thls Agreement, cITective two (2) calendar days
after giving the .Contractor notice ofterminatiori;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price which
would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the period,from
the date of such notice until such time as the State determines that
the Contractor hw cured the Event of Default shall never be paid
to the Contractor; *
8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and set off against any other obligations the Stale rhay owe'
to the Contractor any damages the State suffcre by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or y
8.2.4 give the Contractor a,written notice specifying the Event of
Default, treat the Agreement as breached, terminate the Agreement
and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equityj or bo>th.

i TERMINATION.
9.1 Notwiths^ding-paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole
discretion, terminate the Agreement for any. reason, in whole or in
part, by thirty (30) calendar days written notice to the Contractor
that'the Stale is exercising its option to termihaie the Agreement.
9.2 In the event of ̂  early teithination of this Ag^ment for any
reason other than the "completion of the Services; the Contractor,
shall, at the State's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer,
not later than fifteen (15) calendar days after the date of
termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in detail
all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to and
including the date of termination. In addition, at the State's
discretion, the Contractor shall, within ftfteen (15) calendar days
of notice of early terinination, develop 'and submit to the State a
transition plan for Services under the Agreement.'

10. PROPERTY OWNERSHIP/DISCLOSURE.

10.1 As u«d in this Agreement, the word "Property" shall mean
all data, information and things deyelo^d or obtained during the
performance of; or acquired or developed by reason of. this'
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports, files,
forinulae, surveys, maps, charts v^uittl recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic
reprcscniatiohs, computer programsi computer printouts,.notes,-
letters, memoranda, papers, and documents, all whether finished or
unfinished.

ip.2 All data^d any Property which has been received from the
State, or purchased widi funds provided for that purpose under this
Agreement, shall be'ih'c property of the State, and shall be returned
tb the State upon demarid or upon termination of this Agreement
for any reasori.
10.3 Disclosure of data, information wd other records shall be

govern^ by N.H. RSA chapter 91 -A and/or other applicable law.
DiKlosure requires prior written approval of the State. •

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STAt£ Iti the
performance of this Agreement the Contractor Is, in all respects w
independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor w employee of
the State. NeithertheContractornorany of itsofnceris, employees,
agents or members shall have authority to bind the State or receive
any benefits, workers' compensation' or other emoluments

provided by the State to its erhployees. ,

12. assignment/delegation/subcontracts.

12.1 Contr^tor shall provide the State written notice at least fifteen
(15) calendar days before,any proposed assignment, delegation, or
rother transfer -of any interest in this Agreement. No such
assignment, delegation, or other transfer shall be effective without
the written consent of ̂e State'.
12.2 For. purposes of paragraph 12, a Change of Control shall
constitute aissigrimcnt. "Change of Control" rrieans (a) meiger,
consolidation, or a tr^saction or series of related transactions in
which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the direct
or indirect owner of flffy percent (50%) or more of the voting
shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting power of the
Contractor, .or (b) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of
the Contractor."

12.3 None of the Services shall be subcontracted by the Contractor
. without prior written notice and consent of the State.
12.4 The State iis entiUed to copies of all subcontracts and
assignment ̂ reements and shall not be bound by any provisions
contained in a subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it
is not a party.'

13. INDEMNiFICATION. The Contractor shall indemnify,
defend, and Hold harmless the State, its olTicers, and employees
from and against 'dll actions, claims,- dani^es,. demands,
judgments, fiiies, liabilities losses, and other expenses, including,
without limitation, reawnable attorneys' fees, arising out of or
relating to this Agreement dimtly or indirectly arising from death,
personal injury; property damage, intellectual property
infringement, or other claims asserted against the State, its officers,
or employees caused by the acts qr omissions of negligence,
reckless or willful misconduct, or fraud by the Contractor, its
employees, agents, or subcontractors. The State shall not be liable
for any costs incurred by the Contractor arising uhdd- this
paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the' foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be-deemed'to constitute'a waiver of-the State's

sovereign immunity, which immunity is hereby reserved to the
State. This covenant in paregiaph 13 shall survive the termination,
of this Agreement.
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14. INSURANCE.

14.1 l^e Contnictor •shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
continuously maintain in foi^. and shall require any subcontractor
or assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance:

14.1.1 commercial general Utility insurance against all claims of
bodily injury, death or property d^age.in amounts of not less than
SI.000^000 per' occurrence and S2.000,000 aggregate or excess;
and

14.1.2 special cwse of loss coverage forrn covering airProperty
subject to-subparagraph 10.2 herein,.In an-amount not less than*
80% of the whole replacement value of the Property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be on
policy fohns and endorsements approved for use in the State of
New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued
by insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire.
14.3 The Contractor shall fiimlsh to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9^ or any successor, a certiflcatc(s) of
insurance.for all insurance required under this Agreement At the
request ofthe Contracting Officer, or any successor, the Contractor
shall provide certincate(s) of insurance for all renewal(s) of
insurance required under this Agreement. The certiflcate(s) of
insuiance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
-incorporated herein by reference.

15. WORKERS* COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, certifies and
warrwts that the Contractor is1n compliance with or exempt from,
the requirements of N!H. RSA chapter 281-A ("Workers'
Compensation ").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the requirements of
N.H. RSA chaptcr'281-A, Contractor shall maintain, and require
any subcontractor or ̂ signee to secure and maintain, payment of
Workers' Compen^tion in connection with activities which the
person profx^s to undertake pursuant to this Agreement. The
Contractor shall funiish the Contracting Officer identified in block
1.9, or any successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the
-manner idescribed in N.H. RSA chapter 281-A and any applicable
renewat(s) thereof, which shall be attached and are incorporated
herein by reference. The State shall not be responsible for payment
of any Workera'Compensation premiums of for any other claim or
benefit for Contractor; or- any subcontractor or employee of
Contractor, which might arise under applicable-State of New
Hampshire Workers' Compensation laws in connection with "the
performance of the Services under this Agreement.

.16. WAIVER OF BREACH.,A State's failure to enforce its ri^ts
with respect to any single or continuing breach of ̂is Agreement'
shall not act as a waiver of the right of the State to later enforce any
such rights or to enforce any other or any subsequent breach.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the oiher party shall
be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the.time of
mailing by certified mail,.postage prepaid. In a United States Post
O^ice addressed to the parties at the addresses given in blocks 1.2
and 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or
-discharged only by an instrument in writing sighed by the j^ies
hereto and only af\er approval of such .amendment, waiver or
discharge by the Governor and Executive Council of the State of
New Hampshire unless no such approval is required under the
circumstances pursu^t to State law, rule or policy.

19. CHOICE OF LAW AND FORUM.

19.1 This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and construed
in accordance with the laws .of the State of New Hampshire except
where the Federal supremacy clause requires otherwise, lite
wording used in this Agreement is the wording chosen by the
parties to express their mutual intent, and no nile of construction
shall be applied against or in favor of any par^.
19.2 Any actions arising out of this Agreement; including'the
breach or alleged breach thereof, may not be submitted to binding
arbitration, but must, Instead, be brought and-maintained in the
Mcrrimack County Superior Court of New Hampshire which shall
have exclusive jurisdiction thereof.

20. CONFLICTING TERMS^ In the event of a.conflict between
the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXHIBIT A) and any
other portion of this Agreemmt including any attachments thereto,
the terms of the P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) shall ccmtrol.

21. THIRD PARTIES. This'Agreement.is being entered into fo^
the sole benefit of the pariics hereto, and nqthing herein, e.xpress or
implied, is intend^ to or will confer any legal or equitable right,
benefit, or. remedy of any nature upon any other person.

22. HEADINGS. TTie headings throughout the Agreement arc for
reference purposes only, and the words contained therein shall in
no -way. be held to explain, 'modify,' amplify or aid in the
interpretation, • construction or meaning of the provisions of this
Agreement.

23. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying
provisions set forth.in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated
herein'by reference.

24. FURTHER ASSURANCES. The Contractor, along with its
agents and affiliates, shall, at its own cost and expense, execute any
additional documents and take, such further actions as may be
reasonably required to carry out the provisions of this Agreement
and give effect to the transactions contemplated hereby.

P. .

25. SEVE^BILITY. In the event any of the provisions of this
Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT, this Agreement, which may be
executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, constitutes the entire agreement and
understanding between the. paiiic^ and supersedes all prior
•agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter
hereof.
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EXHIBIT A

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

1. The legally binding and enforceable documents under this contract include 2 CFR 200,as
amended (Unifom Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards), 10 CFR 440 (Weatherization Assistance Program),
the New Hampshire Weatherization Assistance Program State Plan, Weatherization.
Assistance Program Policies and Procedures, and Field Guide. The New Hampshire
Department of Energy (Department) reserves the right to use any legal remedy at its

. • disposal including, but not limited to, disallowance.of costs, withholding of funds,
suspension of agency personnel, disbarmeritof agency personnel, disbarment of agencies
and/or subcontractors from present or future contracts, and such other legal remedies as
determined to be appropriate by the New Hampshire Pepartment of Justice in the
enforcement of rules and regulations pertaining to the Weatherization Assistance
Program. . "

2. Southwestern Community Services, Inc., hereinafter "the Contractor," agrees.io provide
services to implement U.S. Department of Energy's Weatherization Assistance Program "
as detailed in the scope of work.

3. An audit shall be made at the end of the Contractor's fiscal year in accordance with 2
CFR 200, Subpart F - Audit Requirements. This audit report shall include a schedule Of
revenues and expenditures by contract or grant number of all expenditures during the
Contractor's fiscal year. The Contractor shall utilize a competitive bidding process to
choose a qualified financial auditor at least every four years.

The audit report shall include a schedule of prior year's questioned costs along with a •
response to the current status of the prior year's questioned costs. Copies of all .
management letters written as a result of the audit along with the audit report shall be
forwarded to the Department within one month of the time of receipt by the Contractor
accompanied by an action plan, if applicable, for each finding or questioned cost.

4. The following paragraph shall be added to paragraph 9 of the general provisions:

"9.4 All negotiated contracts (except those of $5jOOO or less) awarded by the -
Subcontractor shall allow the New Hampshire Department of Energy, the U.S.
Department of Energy, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any duly
authorized representatives, access to any books, documents, papers, and records of
the Subcontractor or their subcontractors, which are directly pertinent to the
Weatherization Assistance Program for the purpose of making audits, examinations,
excerpts and transcription." '

5. In paragraph 10 of the general provisions, the following sentence shall be deleted: "The
form, subject matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall be

.  identical to those of any Final Report described in EXHIBIT A."

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEpOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025 Exhibit A B C ■ .
Weatherization Assistance Program, ALN #81.042 , Contractor Initials Pp Date DM 8/3-S
Southwestern'Community Services, inc. . ..PageT 6r6 j



6. The costs charged under this contract shall be determined as allowable under the cost
principles detailed In 2 CFR 200 Subpart E - Cost Principles. ,

7. Program and nriancial recoils pertaining to this contract shall be retained by the
Contractorfor three years from the date of submission of the flnarexpenditure report or,
for awards that are renewed quarterly or annually, from the date of the submission of the
quarterly or annual financial report, as stated in 2 CFR 200.334-338.- Retention
Requirements for Records.

This is not a Research and Development (R&D) award. The Department's indirect cost
rate is 25.1 percent.

9; Kirk Stone,'Weatherizatiori Program Manager at the Department, has been designated
with the responsibility for overseeing this contract,

10. RESTRICTION ON ADDITIONAL FUNDING. It is understood and a'greed between
the parties that no portion of the "Grant" funds may be used for the.purpose of obtaining
additional Federal funds tinder any other law of the United States, except if authorized
under that law.

11. ASSURANCES/CERTIFICATIONS. The following arc attached and signed:
Certification Regarding Drug-Free Workplace Requircments;'Certification Regarding
Lobbying; Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension and Other Responsibility
Matters; Certification Regarding the Americans With Disabilities Act .Compliance;
Certification Regarding Environmental Tobacco Smoke; Assurance of Compliance
Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs; and Certification Regarding the
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Compliance,

12. COPELAND ANTI-KICKBACK ACT. All contracts and subgrants in excess of
$2,000.00 for construction or repair shall include a provision for compliance with
Copeland "Anti-Kickback" Act (18 USC 874) as supplemented in Department of Labor
Regulations (29 CFR, Part 3). This Act provides that .each Contractor, subcontract or
subcontractor shall be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed in
the construction, completion or repair of public work, to give up any part of the '
compensation to which he is.othehvise entitled. The subcontractor should report all
suspected violations to the Department.

13. PROCUREMENT. Subcontractor shall-comply with all provisions of 2 CFR 200 Subpart
D - Post Federal Award Requirements - Procurement Standards, with special emphasis
on financial procurement (2 CFR 200 Subpart F - Audit Requirements) and property
management (2 CFR 200 Subpart D - Post Federal Award Requirements - Property
Standards).

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Dale: 07/01/2025 'Exhibit A. B. C . _
Wcathcrizalion Assistance Prc^ram, ALN # 81.042 Contractor initials Date
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. Pace 2 of 6 f



14. CLOSE OUT OF CONTRACT! All final required reports and reimbursement requests
shair be submitted to the State within 60 days of the completion date (Agreement Block
1.7). . -

15. Prohibition on Boycotting Israel'

For the purposes of this Section, the terms shall be defined as follows:

'^Boycotting Israel" means engaging in refusals to deal, terminating business activities, or
Other similar commercial actions intended to limit commercial relations with persons
doing business in Israel or in Israeli-controlled territories when the actions are taken (I)
in compliance with or adherence to calls for a boycott of Israel other than those boycotts
to which Pub. L. No. 96- 78, § 8, 93 Stat. 522 (1979) applies; or (2) in a'manner that
discrimihates on the basis of nationality, national origin, or religion that is not based on a
legitimate business reason. ^

If.the State receives evidence that the Contractor is Boycotting lisrael,"the State shall
, determine whether the Contractor is Boycotting Israel, j A statemenf indicating that the

Contractor engaged in an action of Boycotting Israel or has taken any action of
Boycotting Israel at the request, in compliance wjth, or in furtherance of calls to boycott
Israel, may be considered as one type of evidence that the Contractor is, or has been,
participating in act of BOycotting Israel. An expressive activity, alone, directed at a

'  specific person or a govemmental action may not be considered evidence of an action of
Boycotting Israel:

A determination by the State that the Contractor is cngaged'in an action of Boycotting
Israel constitutes an Event'of Default.

16. These provisions flow down to all sub-grantee and/or $ub-contractor(s).

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXX7<X ; Award D^e; 07/01/2025 ^ Exhibit A, B,.C .
Weatherization Assistance Program, ALN # 81.042 ' Contractor Initials "^>0 Date 6W/5 Z
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. Page 3,of 6



EXHIBIT B

SCOPE OF SERVICES

1. ' The Contractor agrees to perform weatherization services and .all additional services and
other work necessary to provide Weatherization Assistance Program (WAP) services to
eligible low income individuals in" accordance with the regulations set forth by the U. S.
Department.of Energy in lO.CFR 440, and in 2 CFR 200 as amended, and in accordance
with the provisions and procedures contained in the most "recent New Hampshire
Weatherization Assistance Program (NH WAP) State Plan, Policies and Procedures
Manual, Field Guide, and as otherwise administered by the Department.

Periodically the Departmenfmay issue Subcontractor Guidance (SG) and Subcontractor
Notices (SN) or other management and/or guidance clarifications as necessary'. All such
changes shall be considered as incorporated into the NH Weatherization Policies and
Procedures Manual and Field Guide. The Contractor agrees to alter the Program
procedures in accordance .with a SG, SN or other instructions.

The Contractor agrees to abide by changes in the NH WAP as prepared by the
Department ̂ d further agrees to perform Weatherization Program services in a manner
that will successfully interact with utility administered energy efficiency programs for

.  low-income households in order to provide the best services for New Hampshire's low-
income households.

2. The contract period, to be known as Program Year 2025 (PY25), will commence on upon
approval from New Hampshire Governor and Executive Council (Governor and
Executive Council), and will have a completion date of June 30,2026.

3. Contractor must provide the Department with a budget for the use of NH WAP funds
before any reimbursement for weatherization work wilTbe paid by the Department.

4. In PY25, Contractor agrees to complete wealherization-seryiccs on 14 dwelling units
according to the standards outlined in the most recent NH Weatherization Policies arid
Procedures Manual, and Field Guide.

(a) • Weatherizatjpn Services are intended to increase the energy efficiency of the
home, and to improve the home's comfort and safety. A certified energy auditor
will firet perform a NH WAP energy audit on the home using scientific test
equipment. Specific energy conservation measures arid heating source repairs
will then be implemented in order of priority and cost effectiveness. This „
integrated activity is cartied out in accordance with provisions and procedures
outlined in the most recent NH Policies and Procedures Manual and Field Guide.

(b) The minimum number of dwelling units and the amount of funds to be expended
shall conform to the provisions of this contract. Deviations of more than 20%

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEpOOXXXX; Award Date: 07/0.1/2025 , Exhibit A. B, C
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from expected dwelling unit goals in any given ̂quarter may result in a reduction
of the contract amounts and a reajlocation of funds to other Contractors.

5. In accordance witH the U.S. DOE's "Quality Work'Plan" (QWP) and the provisions of
Weatherization Program Notice (WPN) 15-4
https://www.erierev.gov/eere/vvap/downl6ads/wDn-15-4-qualitv-work-plan-requirement-
updatel and as modified in WPN 22:4 (Weatherization Program Notice 22-4: Quality •
'Work Plan Requirement Update I Department of Eherevl. beginning April 1, 2015, .
Contractor must have regular and reliable access to properly trained and certified Quality
Control lnspector(s), available as either staff or cpntraciors, able to fully function in that
capacity. This contract provides funding for continued training and technical assistance
.sufficient to allow the Contractor to secure and maintain the skilled personnel necessary
to meet the requirements of WPN 15-4 and WPN 22-4. ■ _ .

6. All work performed under^the WAP in New Hampshire, using federal money from any
WAP program year, must meet the minimum specifications defined in the.U.S.
Department of Energy's "Quality Work Plan" (QWP) and the associated Standard Work
Specifications (SWS). Details.are presented.in the SWS for Home Energy Upgrades
referred to in U.S. DOE Weatherization Program Notice 15-4, arid updated in
Weatherization Program Notice 22-4, as well as in lheNH WAP's Field Guide, 2021
Edition, vyhich governs how WAP energy conservation measures (ECMs) are to be , ■
implemented. The Contractor must ensure, arid be.able to document for the Department,
that all stafTarid Contractors whp perform Weatherization work in PY25 'are propcr|y'
trained and certified for that work and.have been iriformed that their work muk meet the

requirernerits of the SWS or dwelling units .will not be considered complete and
reimbursement will not occur.

U.S. DOE Awart# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025'
WeathCTization Assistance Pro^am, ALN ft 81.042
So'ulhwestcm Gommunity Services, Inc.

Exhibit A.^B
Contractor Initials Date

Page 5 c^" 6



EXHIBIT C

PAYMENT TERMS

In consideration of the.satisfactory performance of the ,Services, the Department agrees tq pay
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. in total, the sum of: '

$278,107 (which hereinafter is referred to as the "Contracted Amount"); of which
$ 39,180 may be expended for Adminis^tidn,
$ 23,400 may be expended for Training & Technical Assistance,
$ 29,189 may be expended for Health & Safety measures,
$ 19,459 may be expended for Energy Audits,
$  9,730 may be expended for Final Inspections,
$ 34,838 may be expended for Readiness measures,
$122,311 (the balance), to be spent on weatherization activities (Program Activity)

and; ^ ^ .
$ 24,462 * will be issued as a cash advance.

1. Drawdowns from the total contracted amount will be paid to the Contractor only after
written documentation of cash need is submitted to ,the Department. Disbursement of the
contracted amount shall be made in accordance with the procedures established by the
State and 2 CFR 200.305(b) on an advance basis; limited to minimum arhounts needed;
and be limed to be in accordance with the actual, immediate cash requirements of the
Contractor in carrying out the purpose of the program.

2. The Contractor must make timely paym_ents to sub-contractors in accordance with the
contract provisions.

3. Contractor shall submit a payment request to the Department for each month of the
contract period. Payment requests from Contractor shall be received at the Department
no later than the 15*^ day of each month, or the first business day following the 15*^ (lay.

4. Administrative costs are provided to coyer a specified number of unit completions at
minimal standards. Administrative funds may be pro-rated by the Department if
production unit Completions do not meet expected prbductibn goals.

5. The Department may, as a function of its administrative oversight, mpdify contracted
budget amounts as necessary to ensure the efficient operation of the NH WAP as long as
these modified expenditures do not exceed the Contracted Amount total as specified
above.

6. All obligations of the Department, including the continuance of any payments, are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of Federal funds for the
services to be provided.

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOpXXXX; Award Date: 07/01/2025 Exhibit Aj,B.
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NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

EXHIBIT D

The Contractor idehtifled'in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections;5';|51-5160 of thc,Drug.Frec Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C.
701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative,.as Identified in Sections 1.1) and 1.12 of
the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS
ALTERNATIVE I - FOR CONTRACTORS OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS

U.S: DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

U.S: DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace
Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D;'41U.S.C..701 et seq.). The January 31, 1989, regulations were
amended and published as Part II of the May 25, 1990, Federal Register (pages 21681-21691), and require
:'certification.by Contractors (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors), prior to award, that they wiji
maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the regulation provides that a Contractor (and by
infererice, sul>grantees and sub-contract'ore) that is;a State may elect to make one certification.to the IDepartment
in each federal fiscal year'in lieu df certificaies for each ̂ an't during the federal fiscal year covered by the
certification. The certificate set out belovv is a material representation pf fact upon which reliance is placed when
the-agency awards the grant. - False certification' or violation of the certification shall be pounds for suspension of
payments, susperision or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using
this form should send it to:

Kirk Stone, Weatherization Program Manager,
New Hampshire Department of Energy. 21 South Fruit Street, Suite 10, Concord, NH 03301

»  X

(A) The Contractor certifies that it will or will continue.to provide a drug-free workplace by:

(a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, poss^sion of use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the Contractor's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;-

(b) Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about-
(1) The dangers of drug-abuse in the workplace;
(2) The Contractor's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon'employees for drug abuse violations occurring

in the workplace;

(c) Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be
given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);

(d) Notifying the employee in the statemcht required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of
employment under the grant, the,employee will-
(1) Abide by the terms of the statement; and
(2) Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such conviction;

U.S. DOE Aw^ft DEtEEOOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025
'Weatherization Assistance Program, ALN U 81.042
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS
ALTERNATIVE I - FOR CONTRACTORS OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS, conVd

U.S.- DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

(e) Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparag^h (d)(2) from an employee pr otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including plosltion title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activit)' the convicted employee was working, .unlcss the Federal agency
has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall Include the
id.enlification number(s) of each affected grant;

(0 Taking one of the.following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph (dX2), with respect to any employee who Is so convicted-

(1) Taking appropriate persohnel action against such an employee; up to and Including
• termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or

(2) Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency;

(g) Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through Implernentatioh
of paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), ̂d.(0.

(B) The Contractor may itisert in,the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in
connection with,the specific grant.

Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
63 Community Way, PO Box 603, Keene NH 03431

Check □ if lhere are workplaces on file that are not identified here.

Souihiufsifm d^rrmunHuS^yiccsJnc. Upon'G&C approval through June 30. 2026
Cpnti^tor Name nJ Period Covered by this Certification

Dnnie!',, C.hltf' fytCiiHv-/ Offlr/r
Name and Title of Authorized Contractor Representative

^  Oj/SSj^S
Contractor Representative Signature Date

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Ehte: 07/01/2025 Exhibit D thru H ,
Weathcrization Assistance Program, ALN # 81.042 Contractor Initials 0D Date 5
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NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

EXHIBIT E

Thc'Contractor identified In Section 1.3 of the GeneraJ Provisions agrees to'comply with the provisions of Section
3l9ofPublic Law ipi-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, arid 31 U.S.C. 1352,

.arid further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections l.l l and 1.12 of the General
Provisions execute the following Certification:

CERTIFICATION regarding'tOBBVING

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN.SERVICES - CONTRACTORS .

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE ̂ CONTRACTORS

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
Lpw-lncorne Home Energy Assistance Program
Weatheriution Assistance Program

. State Energy Prog?^

Contract Period: Upon G&C approval through June 30, 2026

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any
person for influencing or attempting to influence*an officer or employee of ̂ y .agency, a Member of
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection .
-with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or^ modification,of any
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-Contractor or siib-
cbritractor). • <

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer pr employee of any. agency, a Member of Congress, an
officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undcrsighed shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report
Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and identified.as Standard Exhibit E-1.

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award document for
sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants, loans, and
cooperative elements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.^

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was
made or entered into.' Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this tr^sa'ction
imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required ccrilficatlon shall be
subject to a ciyil penalty of not less than $ 10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.

Offrr{j:.
Contractor Representative Signature Contractor's Representative Title

6c>ifU)U/./5iu-r) CtiiDmi'jniiiJ Oy/^sjSS
Contractor Name ^ ' Date

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025
Wealherization Assistance Program, ALN # 81.042
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
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ibitbthruH

Page 3 of? '



NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

(2)

EXHIBIT F

The Contractor Identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provislonsagrees to comply with the provisions of Executive
Ornce of the President, Executive .Order 12i529 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding pebarment, Suspension, and Other
Responsibility Matters,^d further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections l.i I and'
1. 12 of the General.Provisions execute the following Certification:

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER
RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS - PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

In^ructionsfor Certification
(I) By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the

certification'set out below.
The.inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial,of
participation in this covered transaction. -If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an explanation
of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be considered in connection
with the.Department determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective
primary participani.to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation
in this transaction. " •

. The certification in this clause Is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when the
Department determined to enter iitto this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective primaiy
participant icnowihgly rendered an errorteous certification, _in addition to other remedies avdiable to the
Federal Government, may terminate this transaction for cause or default.
The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate.written notice to the Departmerit^to whom this
'proposal (contract) is. submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant leams'that its certification
was erroneous when submitted or has become errpnepus by reason of changed circumstances.
The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible." "lower tier covered transaction,"
"participant," '^rson," "primary covered transaction," "principd," "proposal," and "voluntarily excluded,"-
as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage, sections of the rules
implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76.
'The prospective primary participant a^cs by submitting this proposal (contract) that-should the proposed
covered transaction be entered into, it shall not Icnowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction with
a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded frorh participation in this
covered transaction, unless authorized by the Department.
The prospective primaiy participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that i.t will include the clause
titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower tier
Covered Transactions," provided'by the Department, without modification, in all lowerMier covered
transactions wid in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.
A participant.in a covered transaction rriay relyiupon a certification of a;prospcctive participant in a lower tier
covered transaction that it is not,debarred, suspended, ineligible, or invOluntarily excluded from the covered
transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous: A participant may decide the method and
frequency by which it determines the'eligibilily of its principals. Each participant rnay, but is^nbt required to,
check the Non-procurement List (of excluded parties).
Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment ofa system of records in order
to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a
participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary
course of business dealings. ' .
Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered
transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier coviered transaction with a person who is suspended, debarred,
ineligible,'or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to,other remedies
available to the Federal government, the Department may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

(3)

(4)

(5)

.(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025
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CERTinCATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER
RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS - PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS, cpnPd

Certification Regarding DebarmenI, Suspension, and Other
Responsibility Matters - Primary Covered Transactions

( II) The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and ̂lief/that it and its principals:

(a) are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debannem, declared ineligible^ or voluntarily
excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;

(b) have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had a
civil judgment rendered against them' for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with'obtaining, attempting to'obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local) transaction or
a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal.or Stme antitrust statutes or commission
of embezzlement theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false
statements, or receiving stolen property;

(c) arc not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or-civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in para^aph (I) (b) of
this certification; and

(d) have not within a three-year period preceding this' application/proposal-had'one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default.

(12) Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certificatiori,
such prospective participant shall attt^h an explanation to this proposal (contract).

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, IneiigibiJity and
Voluntary Exclusion -Lower Tier Covered Transactions

(To Be Supplied to Lower Tier Participants)

By signing and subihitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as defined in
45 CFR Part 76, certifies" to the best of its knowledge and l^lief that it and its principals:

V  (a) are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible,'or voluntarily
excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agmcy.

(b) where the prospective tower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such prospective
participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

The prospective lower tier participant further agrees' by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will include this
clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension. Ineligibility, and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower
Tier Covered Transitions," without modification in-all lower tier covered transactions and in ail solicitations for
lower tier covered transactions.

,  Offrctr
Contractor Representative Signature Contractor's Representative Title

f)nuihiiir<^jein 0)mmitnriiiSer[itai/nC. O'jjasj^.'S ^
Contractor,Name . ^ Dale '

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Dale: 07/01/2025
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NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT QF ENERGY

EXHIBIT G

CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE

AMERICAJVS WITH DISABILITIES ACT COMPLIANCE

The Contractor Identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions a^ecs by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections Ml and 1.12 of the General .Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

.  1

By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agre^ to iri^e reasonable efforts to comply with
all applicable provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.

/OanhJAi Ch'i<f (IfficAjr
Contractor Representative Signature Contractor's Representative Title

/jimmunjiiJ ScfVia^ Jf\C 0^f3?f£l5
Contractor Name J . Date ' ''

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025 Exhibit D thru H -
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NEW HAMPSHraE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

EXHIBIT H

A  .

. CERTIFICATION

Public Law 103-227, Part C
EIVVrRONMENTAL.TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103227, Part C Environmental Tobacco Smqke..also known as the Pro Children Act'of 1994, requires
that smoking not be pennitted in any portion of any indoor facility .routinely owned or leased or contracted for'by
an entity and used routinely or regularlyTor.provision of health, day care; education, or library'services to children
under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either directly or through State of local
governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee.

'"r ^

The. law docs not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely^ by Medicare
or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for inpatlent drug or alcohol treatment.

Failure to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the impositiort of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 perday an^or the Imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

By signing.and submitting this application the applicant/Contractor certifies that it will comply with the
requirements of the A'ct. • '

The applicant/Contractor further agrees that it will require the language of this certification be included in any
subaw^ds which contain provisions foi} the children's services and that all subcontractors shall certify
accordingly. ^ ,

^  Chi^f fK<(ltiiu-e /)ffir/r
Contr^tor Representative Signature ' Contractor's Representative Title

<SnlJcfhu/^.^ifrn r^munllu SavKf S| lt\C. (NjSiSiSS
Contractor Name ^ 'Date ' ^

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEpOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025 Exhibit D thru H y
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NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT QF ENERGY

EXHIBIT I

U.S. Department of Enei^ ^
Assurance of Compliance Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs

0MB Burden Disclosure Statement

Public, reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average i 5. minutes per response,
-including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering arid maintaining the data
needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding thisiburdeh
estimate or any other aspect of this collection of infonhation, includirig suggestions for reducing this burden, to
Office of Information Resources Management Policy, Plans, and.Oversight, Records Management Division, HR- '
422 - GTN, Paperwork Reduction Project (1910-0466), U.S. EXDE , 1000 Independence Avenue,.S.W.,
Washington, DC 20585; and to the Office.of Management and Budget (0MB), Paperwork Reduction Project
(19l0-()4b.0), Washington- DC 20503.

Southwestern Community Services. Inc. (Hereinafter called the "Contractor") HEREBY AGREES to comply
with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Pub. L.^88-352), Section 16 of the Federal. Energy, Administratiqri
Act of 1974 (Pub. L. 93-275), Section 401 of the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974 (Pub. L. 93-438), TitlelX of ^
the Education,Arn'endments of 1972, as aniehded, (Pub. L. 92-318, Pub. L. 93-568,-and Pub. L. 94-4.82), Section,

504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Pub. L. 93-112), the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (Pub. L. 94-135),
Title Vlll of the Civil Rights Act pf 1968 (Pub. L. 90-284), the Department of Energy Organization Act of 1977
(Pub. L. 95-91), the.Energy. Conservation and Production Act of 1976, as amended, (Pub. L. 94-385) and Title 10,
Code of Federal Regulations, Part 1040. In accordance with the above laws and regulations issued pursuant,
thereto, the Contractor agrees to.assure that no person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color,
national origin, sex, age, or diMbility, be excluded from participation in,.be denied the benefits of, or be othery/ise
subjected to discrimination under any program or activity in which the Contractor receives Federal assistance
from the U.S. DOE.

Applicability.and Period'of .ObiigatioD '' ^ .
in.lhe case of ahy-service, fln^cial aid, covered employment, equipment, property, or structure provided, leased,
or improved with Federal assistance extended to the.Contractor by the U.S. DOE, this assurarice^obligates the
Contractor for the period during which Federal assistance is extended. In the case'df any transfer of isuch service,
financial aid, equipment, property, or structure, this assurance obligates the transferee for the period during which
Federal assistance is extended. If any personal property is so.prqvidcd, this assurance obligates the Contractor for
the period.,during which it retains ownership or possession of the property.- In all other casesnhis' assurance
obligates the Contractor for the period during which the Federal assistance is extended to the Contractor by the
U.S. DOE. ^

Employment.Practiccs
Where a primary objective of the Federal assistance is to provide employment or where the Contractor's
employment practices.afTect*the delivery pf services in programs or activities resulting from Federal a^istance;
extended by the Dcpartnient, the Contractonagrees not to discriminate on the ground of race, color, national
origin, sex,.age, or disability,.in its employment practices. Such employment practices may'include, but are not
limited to, recnjitment, advertising, Hiring, layoff or termination, promotion, demotion, transfer, fates of pay,
training ̂ d participation in upward mobility programs; or other forms of comperisation and use.of facilities.

Subrecipient Assaraace

The Contractor shall require any individual, organization, or other entity with whom it subcontracts, sub-grants, or
subleases for the purpose of providing any service, financial aid, equipment, property, or structure to comply with
laws and regulations cited above. To this end, the sub-recipient shall be required to sign a written assurance form;
however, the obligation of both rwipient arid sub-recipient to ensure compliance is 'not/elieved by the collection
or submission of written assurance forms.

1* ' ' '

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025 _ hMC
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Diata Collection and Access to Records

The Contractor agrees to compile and maintain information pertaining to prograrns or activiiies.develpped;as,a
result of the Contractor's receipt of Federal assistance from the U.S. DOE. Such i nformation shall include, but is-
not limited to the following: (I) the m^ner in which services are or will be provided and related data necesMry
for determining whether any persons ̂ e.pr will be denied such services on the basis of prohibited discrimination;
(2) the population eligible to be served by race, color, national origin, sex, age arid diMbility; (3) data regarding ,
covered employment including use or planned use of bilingual public contact employees serving beneficifiunes of
the program where necessary to permit effective participation by beneficiaries unable to speak or understand
English; (4) the location of existing or proposed facilities connected with the program and related information „
adequate for deteiminihg whether the location has or will have.the effect of.unriecessarily denying access to.any
person on the basis of prohibited discrimination; (5) the preserii or proposed membcrship.by race, color, national
origin, sex, age and disability in any j5lanning of advisory body which is an integral part of the p'ro^am; and (6)
any-additional written data determined by the U.S. DOE to bCTClevant to the obligation to assure compHance by
recipients with laws cited in the .first paragraph of this assurance.

The Contractor agrees to submit requested daia.to the U.S. DOE regarding programs'and activities developed by
the Contractor from the use of Federal assistance funds extended by the U!S. DOE; Facilities of the Contractor
(including the. physical plants, buildings, or other structures) and all records, books, accounts, and other sources of
information pertinent to the Contractor's corripliance with the civil righis.laws shall be made available for
inspection during nontial business hours on request of ̂  officer or employee of the U.S. DOE specifically
authdriMd to make such inspections; Instructions in this regard will be provided by the Director, Office of Civil
Rights, U:S; Department of Energy.

This assurance is. given in consideration of and for the purpose of obtaining any and all Federal grants, loans,
contracts (excluding procurement contracts), property, discounts.or other Federal assistance extended after the
date hereof, to the Contractors by the U.S. DO.E, including installment payments on account after such data of
application for Federal assistance which are approved before-such date. The Contractor reCognizes and a^ees
that such Federal assistance will be extended in reliance upon the representations and agreements made-in this
assurance, and that .the United States shall have the right to seek judicial enforcement of this assuf^ce; This >
assurance is binding on the Contractor, the successors, transferees, and assignees, as well as the person(s)'whose
signatures appear below and who are ai^horized to sign this assurance oh behalf of the Contractor.

Gootractor Certification

The Contractor certifies .that it has complied, or that, within 90 days of the dale of the ̂ ant, it will comply with
all applicable requirements of 10 C.F.R. § 1040.5 (a copy will be furnished to the Contractor upon written request
•to the Department). ' • • ^

Representative Name and Title: 6^-fh DnnuJy^ Cht^i QPfic^jr

Signature: Dale:

Southwestern.Community Services, Inc.
63 Community Way, PO Box 603, Keene NH 03431
603-352-7512

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX ; Award Date: 07/01/2025 Exhibitl . '
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.  NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

EXHIBIT J

CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY

AND TRANSPARENCY ACT (FFATA) COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accounlability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of
individual Federal-^ants equal to or greater than $30,000 and awarded on or after October .1, 2010, to
report on data related to executive compensation and associated flrst-iier sub-grants of $30,000 or morie.
If the initial award is below $30,000 but'subsequent grant modifications result in a total aw^d equal to or
over $30,000, the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date'of the award..

In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (^Reporiing Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department must report the following information for any subaward or contract award subject to the
FFATA reporting requirements:

1) Name of entity
2) • Amount of award
3) Funding agency
4) NAICS code for contracts / ALN program number for grants
5) Program source
6) . Award title descriptive of the purfwse of the funding action
7) Location oif the entity
8) Principle place of performance
9) Unique identifie'r'of the entity (UEI #) ' ,
10) Total compensation and narhes of the top__flve executives if:

a. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government,-and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

b. Compensation information is nof already.avai.lable through reporting tp the SEC.
.• >

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or award amendment is made.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions
ofThe Federal'Funding Accountability and Transparency "Actj-Public Law 109-282 and Public Law
1.10-252, and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensalioh Information), and
further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.1 1 and 1.12 of the
General Provisions execute the following Certification:

The below named Contractor a^ecs to provide needed informrtion.as outlined above to the Department
and tp comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal Fin^cial Accountability and Transparency '
Act.

8)dhdanul5 ..C£0
Contractor Representative Signature Authorized Contractor Representative Name & Title

Contractor Name >J Date

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date; 07/01/2025 tin I
Weatherization Assist^ce Progriuh, ALN # 81.042 Contractor Initialsfi'L^ Date
-Southweslem Community Services, Inc. Page 1 or 2



NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

EXHIBIT J

FORM A '

. As the Contractor identified in Swtlon 1.3 of the General Provisions, I certify that the responses to^the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. The-UEI number for your entity is: HMUUXK?(Me>JC5

2. Inyour business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization
receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual jgross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,loans, -
grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements: and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues
from U.S. federal contracts; subcontracts, loans, ̂ants, subgrants, and/or cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer to above is NO, stop here

If-the answer to #2 above is VES, please answer the following:

3. .Doesthe" public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your business
or o'rganizatiori through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (15 U.S.C:78m(a), 78o(d)) or section"6104 of the IntemarRevenue Code of 1986?-

NO YES

Ifthe answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following:

4. The names ̂ d compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount: 2_

Amount:

Amount:

U.S. DOE Award#. DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date: 07/01^025
Wealherization Assistance Program, AUN # 81.042
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
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NEW HAMPSHM DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY '

EXHIBITK

CERTIFICATION REGARDING BUILD AMERICA, BUY AMERliEA (Buy America) COMPLIANCE

The Contractor identified in Section" 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with tlie provisions of the
Build America, Buy America Act'(Buy America) Pub. L. No. I17^58,,§§ 70901-52 under the Infrastructure-
Investment ̂ d Jobs Act (lIJA), Pub. L. No. 117-58, as well as the Initigl lmplemehtalion Guidance on
Application of Buy America Preference in Federal Financial Assistance Programs for Infrastructure
,memora,ndum from the Office of Management and Budget (dMB) dated April 18, 2022, and further 0MB or
U.S. DOE guidance once issued. -

Biiy'America seeks to-strengthen Made in America Lavvs and bolster Arherica's industrial base^ protect national
seciirity, and support high-paying jobS; Buy America requires that the Department'and the Contractors of federal
funding shall ensure that "none of the funds -made available for a Federal financial assistance pro^am-for
infrastructure, including each deficient pro^m, may be obligated for a project unless all of the iron, steel,
manufactured products, and construction materials used in the project are produced in the United Stales."

'•

Definitions:-

lafrastriicture includes, at a minimum, the structures, facilities, and equipmentTor, in the United States:

•  Roads, highways,.and bridges;

• ' Public transportation; ,
•  Dams, ports, har^rs, and other maritime facilities; ••
•  Intercity passenger ̂ d freight railroads; ° >
•  Freight and infermodal facilities; ,
•  Airports; v
•  Water systems, including drinking water and wastewater systems;
•, Electrical transmi«ioh facilities and systems; ■
• ■ Utilities;

•  J

•  Broadband infrastructure;

•  ' Buildings ̂ d real property; and
•  Facilities that generate, transport, arid distribute energy.'

Further, the "infrastructure" in question must either be publicly owned or ̂ rve a public function; privately owned
infrastructure that is not open to the publlc, such as a persona! residence, is not considered "infrastructure" for
purposes of this requirement. In cases vyhere the "public" nature of the infrastructure is unclear, the Contractor
shpuld,cont^t the Department. The Department will consult with the U.S. EXDE which will rerider a
determination.

Project means the construction, alteration, maintenance, or repair of infrastructure in the United Slates.

.Constructioii.Materials.includes'an article, material, or supply - other than an item of primarily Iron or steel; a
■rrianufactured product; cement and cementitious materials; aggregates such as stone, sand, or gravel; or aggregate
binding agents or additives-^ that is; or corisists primarily of:

•  Non-ferrous metajs; ,
•  Plastic and polymer-based products (including polyvinylchloride, composite building materials, and

polymers used in fiber optic cables);
-• Glass (including optic glass);
•  Lumber, or
•  Drywall.

U.S. DOE"Award^DE:EEOOOXXXX;;Award Date:'07/01/2025 ExhiNt
Weatherizatipn Assistance Program, ALN #'81.042 Contractor Initials' rl-J Date
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Dom^tic content procurement preference means and refers to the same thing as "Buy America Preference."
These terms mean a)! iron and steel usc'd.in the project are^produced in the United States;.the manufactured
products used in the project are produced in the United.Slates; or the construction materials used in.the project are
produced in the United States.

. Buy America Preference:

None of the funds provided under this grant to the Contractor may be used for a project for infrastructure uni«s:

1. All iron and steel used in the project are produced in the United States - this rheahs'all manufacturing
proces^s, from the initial melting stage ihrou^ the application of coating, occurred in the United,
States;

2. All manufactured products used in the project are produced in the United States - this mcans.the
manufactured product was manufactured in the United States; and the cost of the components of the
manufactured product that are mined, produced, or manufactured in the United Slates Is greater than 55
•percent of the total cost of all components of the manufactured product, unless janother standard for
deterinining the minimum amount of domestic content of the manufactured prc^uct has been
established under applicable law br'regulation; and

3. All construction materials are manufactured in the United States - this means that all manufacturing
processes for the constfuction'material occurred in the United States.

The Buy America Preference only applies to articles, materials, and supplies that are consumed in, incorporated
into, or affixed to an infrastructure project. As such, it docs not apply to tools; equipment, and supplies, siich as
temporary scaftolding, brought into the construction site and removed at or before the completion Of.the
infrastructure project. Nor doesa Buy i^meri'ca Preference ;apply to equipment and furnishings, such as movable
chairs, desks, and portable computer equipment, that are used at or within the finished infrastructure project but
are not an integral part of the.structure or permanently affixed to the infrastructure project.

The Contr^tbr and its subcontractor, subgrantec, or other pereOn, firm, or corporation, will proyide the best
available documentation illustrating cornpliance with the Buy America Preference. The Department reserves the
right to .request additional Information frorn.ihc Contractor to further dernonstrate compliance with the Buy
America preference. Compliance may be met by providing the following: •-

1. A written statement from the manufacturer demonstrating that the iron, steel, manufactured'products, of
construction materials purchased frorn that manufacturer were produced in the United States.

2. Photographic evidence that the iron, steel, manufactured products, or construction materials were
produced in the United States.

3. Other documentation pre-approved by the Department.

Waivers:

When necessary, the Contractor may-seek a waiver from the Buy America Preference requirerrients. Any issued
waiver is made by the U.S; DOE. The Contractor must contact the Department with its intent to seek a waiver
from the Buy America Preference requirements. The Department wiirsubmit:the waiver request on behalf of the
Contractor to U;S. DOE.-Requests to waive the application of the Buy America Preference must be in writing.
Waiver requests are subject to public comment periods of no less than 15 days, as well as review by the 0MB.

•Current tirneframe estimate from request to approval is 45-60 days.

Waivers must.be based on one of the following justifications: . .

1. Applying the Buy America Preference would be inconsistent'with the public interest (Public Interest);
2. The types of iron, steel, manufactured products, or construction materials are not produced in.the

United States in sufficient and reasonably available quantities or of a satisfactory quality
(Nonavailability); or,

U.S. DOE Awardfl DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date; 07/01/2025 ■ Exhibit'jL- /
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3. The inclusion of iron, steel, manufactured producte, or construction materials produced in the United
States will increase the cost of the oyer^l project by more than 25 percent (Unrc^onable Cost).

Requests to waive the Buy America Preference must include the.following:

•  Waiver type (Public Interest, Nonavailability,-or Unreasonable Cost);
•  Recipient name and Unique.Entity Identifier (UEi);
•  A detailed justification as to how the non-domestic'ilem(s) is/are essential.the project;
•  A certiflcation that the Contractor made a go^ faith effort to solicit bids for domestic products

supported by terms included in.requests.for proposals, contracts, and non-proprietary communications
with potential suppliers;

•  Total estimated project cost, with estimated Federal share and recipient cost share, breakdowns;
•  Total estimated infrastructure costs, with estimated Federal share and recipient cost share breakdowns;
•  A brief description of the project, its location, and the specific infrastructure involved;

•  List and description of iron or steel it'cm(s), m^ufaclured goods, and/or.constructioh material(s) the
recipient smIcs to waive iVom the Buy America Preference, including name, cost, coun'tiy(ies) of origin,
and relevant PSC and NAICS codes for each; ^ •

" • A'ju^ification statement -• based on one of the applicable justifications outlined aboye—as to why the
items in question cannot be procured "domestically, including the due diligence performed;(e.g., market
resMrch, industry outreach) by the recipient to attempt to avoid the need for a waiver. This justification
may citeVif applicable, the absence of any Buy America-compliant bids received for domestic products
in response to a solicitation; and

•  Anticipated impact to the project if no waiver is issue'd.

The U;S. DOE and the Department may request^ and the Contractor must provide, additional information for
consideration of this wavier. The U.S. DOE's final determination regarding approval pr'rejection of the waiver
request may not be appealed. a

Cdhtfactor Representative Signature
Seih PanrtJi, L6.0
Authorized Contractor Representative Name & Title

PjvrjmUniin Set viaif InC. O'^/SS/tS
Cpnti^tor Name Z/ Date ^

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date: 07/01/2025
Weatheri^ion Assistance Program, ALN # 81.042
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NEW HAMPSHIRE DEP>^TMENT OF ENERGY

EXHIBIT L , *

CERTIFICATION REGARDING NHPA arid NEPA COMPLIANCE

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the
provisions of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) 42 U.S.C. §4321 et seq^, niles
promulgated thereunder (40 CFR Parts 1500-1508), guidance documents issued by the Office of
Management and Budget or the U.S. DOE, the Department executed Historic Preservation
Pro^mmatic Agreement, and U.S. DOE Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy
(EERE) NEPA Determination GFO-WAP-ARLD2025A (NEPA Determinati6n-WAP25).

The Contractor agrws to "assure corhpliance with Section 106 of the National Historic
" Preservafion Act (NHPA) and the Department executed Historic Preservation Progi^rnatic
Agreement prior to.authbrizing the use of funds.

The Corilractbr agrees that it will not fund activities that are not "Allowable Activities" pursuant
to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) Determination-WAP25.

Allowable activities for WAP annual formula, Weatherization Readiness, a:nd PVE funds
include:

I.. Administrative activities associated with managemeni of the designated Weatherization
Office and management of programs arid strategies in support of weatherization activities.

2. Development arid implementation of training programs and strategies for weatherization
effort, including initial home energy audits, final inspections, arid client education.

3. ' Purchase of vehicles and equipment needed for administrative activities, training
activities, weatherization energy audits, installation of measures indicated below, arid quality
control inspections.

4. Weatherization activities, provided that projects-apply the restrictions of each State's
progrmimatic agreement with their State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO), are installed in
existing buildings, are appropriately sized, and are covered by Appendix A of 10 CFR 440
and/or approved as part of the energy audit approval procedures and material approval process,
and limited.to:

a. Energy Conservation Measures- including purchase and installation of measures,
as applicable
M. Buiiding Shell Measures:

1. . Attic/Roof Insulation.

2. Wair Insulation.

3. Foundation insulation.

4. Air Sealing/Infiltration Reduction. »

U.S. C)pE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date: 07/01/2025
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5; Window replacement and treatments, such as, window film,
• awnings and solar screens. ^

6. Door replacement and treatments such as, storm door, window
film, solar screens.

b. Mechanical Measures

Clean, tune, repair, or replace heating and/or cooling-systems including
switching fuel source.
Install duct and distribution system insulation

iii. Seal ducts and distribution systems
iv. Install programmable thermostats
V. Repair/replace domestic water heaters, including switching fuel source,
vi. Install domestic hot water heater tank and pipe insulation

c. Electric and Water Measures

'  i. Install efficient light sources
ii. Install low-flow showerheads, aerators, and toilets

iii. Replace inefficient refrigerators arid freezers with energy-efficient models

5. Energy-related health and sa!fety measures per the most recently approved U.S. DOE's
Wcathcrization Assistance Program Guidance, currently Weaiherization Program Notice (WPN)
22-7 provided that activities adhere to the requirements of the respective Recipients' U.S. DOE
executed Historic Preservation Programmatic Agreement, occur in existing buildings, and are
limited to: . • '

a. Air-Conditlohing,'Heating Systems, and Combustion Appliances
i. Replace, repair, or install primary heating systems when existing primary

heating systems are unsafe, inoperable; or nonexistent.
ii. No U.S. DDE-funded weaiherization work is permitted If the completed

dwelling unit will be heated withhn unvented combustion space heater as
the primary heai.source. The primary heat source must be replaced with a
vented unit prior to or by weatherization. The replacement unit must be
sized to heat the.entire dwelling unit.

iii. Unsafe secondary units, including space heaters, must be, repaired, or
.  , removed and disposed of, or deferi^I is required. Secondary unvented

space heaters are considered unsafe if they:
1. are not listed and labeled as meeting ANSI Z21.11.2;
2. have an input rating of more than 40,000 BTU/hour; or are in a

bedroom and have an input rating of more thain 10,000 BTU/hour;
3. are in a bathroom and have an input rating of more than 6,000

BTU/hour;
4. are operating in an unsafe manner (e.g., high carbon monoxide

(CO) readings, too close to combustible materials, Jack sufficient
combustion air volume);

5. or are not permitted by the Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ)
iv. The Department's Contractors miist comply with the Manufactured Home

Construction and Safety Standards which mandates that:
I. All fuel-burning appliances in manufactured homes except: ranges,

ovens, illuminating appliances, clothes dryers, ̂ lid fuel-buming

U.S. DOE AwardS'DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date: 07/01/2025 U
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fireplaces and solid fuel butiiing stoves, must be installed to
provide for the complete separation of the combustion system from
the interior atmosphere of the manufactured home (i.e., to draw
their combustion air from outside), and be vented to outside the
dwelling.

2. All appliances installed by weatheri^tion in manufactured homes
must meet these.standards, including secondary heating sources.
No unvented fuel-burning space heating appliances may remain in
a MH after weatherization under ariy circumst^ces. If ah occujsant
will not allow the removal of an unsafe combustion appliance from
the home, deferral is required..

3. Repair or replace combustion gas venting to ensure proper
combustion gas venting to outside the dwelling for all combustion
appliances, including but not limited to gas dryers and
refrigerators, furnaces, yented space heaters, and water heaters.

v. If weath'erizatipn installs an appliance that is vented into a masoriiy
chimney, the chimney must be lined in compliance with the International
Fuel Gas Code (IFGC) or,local AHJ if more stringent.

vi. Install adequate combustion air for all combustion appliances left after
^weatherizatibn.

yii. If permits are required for heating/cooling system work, they must be
secured and are a program operation cost if the installaUon Is ah ECM or
may be included in the health and safety (H&S) cost if installed as a H&S
measure.

viii. If unsafe.conditions relating to existing combustion appliances require
remediation to safely perform weatherization and.cannot be remedied by

^ repair or tuning, replacement is an allowable H&S measure unless
prevented by other guidance herein.

ix. ' Documentation justifying the replacement with a cost comparison between
replacement and repair must be maintained in the client file

X. Replace, repair, or install primary air conditioning in homes where current
occupants rneet Contractor's definition of "at-risk"^

xi. Minor repairs on electric space heaters'
xii. Repair or removal of primary and secondary solid fuel heating appliances.
xiii. Rieplacement of unsafe'primary solid fuel heating appliances,

b. Asbestos

i. When suspected friable Asbestos Containing Materials (ACM) are
present, including vermiculite, assume they contain asbestos and take
precautionary measures to prevent disturbing it during the audit and work
unless testing determines otherwise.

ii. Identifying and managing suspected ACM that provides for reasonable
and neces^ry precautions to preyent asbestos contamination in the home.

iii. Addressing'blower door testing where suspected friable ACM is present
(as defined by EPA), including vermiculite.

iv. Temporary removal and reinstallaiipn of ACM siding to perforrn an ECM
(e.g., wall insulation).

VS. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXJOCX; Award Date; 07/01/2025 R H
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V. Limited ericapsulaiion or removal pf suspected ACM on small surfaces
(pipes, ductwork, furnaces, other small, covered surfaces, etc.) by an
appropriately trained asbestos control professional if necessary to safely
weatherize the dwelling.

c. Biologicals and Unsanitary Conditions
i. Lirnited remediation of conditions that may lead to of promote biological

concerns and unsanitary conditions (e.g., repairing leaking sewage pipe)
ii. Limited clewing of the workspace to protect the health and safety of

workers.and occupants
d. Building Structure and Roofing

i. Minor repairs to building structure of roofs
e. Code Compliance

i. Correction of preexisting code compliance issues triggered by
weatherizatibn measures being installed in a specific room or area of the
home.

f. Electrical

i. Provide sufficient over-current protection and damming prior to insulating
building components containing knob and tube wiring, as required by the
AHJ. " '

ii. Minor electrical repairs (e.g., junction box covers, improper splices) to
protect the occupant or workers from electrical hazards within the living
area or in the immediate area where weatherization activities will occur

g. Fuel Leaks
*  i. When a gas leak is found on the utility side of service, the utility service

rhust be contacted, work must be temporarily halted, and the leak must be
repaired before work may proceed. ■

ii. Fuel leaks that are the responsibility of the occupant (vs. the utility) must
be repaired before installing weatherization measures in the home

iii. Replacement or repair of leaking bulk fuel tanks and/or lines if connected
systems will remain after weatherization. , . * ,

iv. Replacement of flexible appliance gas connectors that are not compliant
with current fuel gas codes

h. Gas Ovens/Stovetops/Ranges
i. Limited cleaning or repair of ovens/ranges/stovetops
ii. , Limited replacement of unsafe gas ovens/range^stovetops

i. Hazardous Materials

:  i. Hazardous Waste Materials generated by weatherization work.(e.g.,
refrigerant, asbestos, lead, mercury, CFL lighting.bulb/ballasts, etc.) must
be dispored of according to all local and federal laws, regulations, and
guidelines, as applicable.

ii.. Limited removal of pollutants that pose a risk to workers is required (e.g.,
flammable liquids, hazardous chemicals, and other air pollutants)

iii. Limited removal of pollutants that pose a risk to the occupant
j. Injury Prevention of Occupants t

i. Minor repairs and installations (e.g., repairing stairs, replacing handrails,
etc.)

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award pme: 07/01/2025 ^ Ko/'^r-
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k. Lead Based Surface Coverings
i. Cp'mply with EPA's Lead; Renovation,-Repair and Painting Program

(RRP) rules when working in pre-1978 housing unless testing confirms the
work area to be lead free.

ii. Testing to determine the presence of lead on surfaces that.will be disturbed
'  . by WAP rtieasure installation is allowed with EPA-approved testing

methods.

I. Mold and Moisture

i. Lirhited water damage repairs that can be addressed by weatherization
workers are allowed when necessary to weatherize the home and to ensure
the long-term stability and durability of the measures

ii. Source control (i.e., correction of moisture and mold creating conditions)
when necessary, to weatherize the home and to ensure the long-term
stability and durability ofthe measures. Source control is independent of
latent damage and related repairs. Source control includes, but is not
limited to.site drainage, gutters, down spouts, extensions, flashing; sump
piirhps, dehumidjfiers, landscape, leaking roofs, vapor retardefs, moisture
barriers, etc.

iii. Window and door repairs to resolve a bulk water'intrusion issue that is the
cause of visible biological growth and iri compliance with the most current
Incidental Repair program notice (WPN 19-5)

m. Pests

i.

ii.

n. Radon

Limited pest removal is allowed only where infestation would prevent
weatherization

Screening of wiridows and pioints of access and incorporating pest
exclusion into air sealing'practices to prevent intrasion

i. Cover exposed dirt floors within the pressure/thermal boundary with a
,  sealed soil gas retarder

ii. Cover sump well/pits'with airtight covera
iii. Implement ventilatipn as required by ASHRAE 62.2-2016
iv. In homes where radon may be present, work scope may include additional .

precautionary measures based on EPA Healthy Indoor Environment .
Protocols for Home Energy Upgrades.

V. Other precautions may include, but are,not limited to, sealing any
observed floorand/or foundatiph penetrations, isolating the basement from
the conditioned space, and ensuring crawl space venting is installed and
operable.

0. Safety Devices; Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarms, Fire Extinguishers
i. Install CO alarms in every home where alarms are not present or are

inoperable in compliance with ASHRAE 62^2-2016 which references
NFPA 720 (note; NFPA 720 has been incorporated into NFPA 72)

ii. Install smoke alarms where the AHJ requires thcm if alarms are not
present or are inoperable.

iii. Replace functional smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms if they are
beyond the manufacturer's stated lifetime (usually 10 years).

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date; 07/01/2025 _ _ Exhibit L i
Wcatherizaiidn Assist^ce Program,'ALN # 8i;042 Contractor Initials'BP Date indjssas
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. Pagc.5 ofS



_  iv. Replacc.'fiinctional smoke or GO alarms batteries If designed to be
replaceable.

V. Provide fire extinguishers where solid fuel burning equipment is present!
p. 'Ventilation and Indoor Air Quality

i. Install ventilation as required by ASHRAE 62.2 - 2016.
q. Water Heaters

i. • Limited case-by-case replacement of water heaters if the water heater
poses a life-safety risk to occupants (e.g., leaking primary tank, high CO
measurernents).

ii. Minor safety repairs of water heaters (e.g., ternperature and pressure valve
piping, backflow prevention devices, expansion tanks)-

.  iii. Replace, repair, or install primary water heater heaters when existing
primary water heater is unsafe, inoperable, or nonexistent

r. Worker Safety
i. Minor repairs and installations (e.g., repairing stairs, replacing handrails,

etc.) are allowable when necessary to safely weatherize the dwelling,
ii: Equipment purchases to protect the health and safety of the worker (e.g.,

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), jobsite cleaning supplies

6. Incidental and necessary minor energy-rejaied repairs aind replacemehts provided that
activities adhere to the requirements of the respective Recipients' U.S. DOE executed Historic
Preservation Programmatic Agreement, occur in existing buildings, and are limited to:.

a. Repair/replace damaged, windows and doors
b. Minor roof repairs- limited to replacing/fixing decking material and roof material.
c. Interior and exterior wall repairs
d. Ceiling repairs
e. Floor repairs . . -
f. Foundation of subspace (crawl space) repairs
g. Exterior drainage;repairs limited to gutter repair or replacement, and/or grading

adjacent to the perimeter of the foundation not to extend more than 3 feet from the
foundation

h. 'Plumbing repairs J'
i. Electrical repairs

7. Installation of solar photovoltaic (PV) and solar hot water heating systems provided that
activities adhere to the requirements of the respective Recipients; U.S. DOE executed historic
Preservation Programmatic Agreement, occur in or on existing buildings, and are limited to:

^  a. PV systems would be appropriately sized and would not exceed 60 kW and/or
b. Solar hot water heating systems would be appropriately sized and would not

exceed 200,000 BTU/HR

c. Systems would be roof mounted or attached to structure
d. -Battery storage, if applicable, would be inside^structure (e.g. jnside a garage), or

attached to outside of structure ' ; • • , .

8. Allovyabje activities under the Weatherization Readiness Fuhds (WRF) are designated for.
use by Contractors in addressing structural and health and safety issues. This funding is

U.S; DOE Award# DE-EEOOOXXXX; Award Date: 07/01/2025 E*hjbi!.L
Wcalherization Assistance Program, ALN # 81.042 Contractor Initials I^\/ Date
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. ' Page 6 of 8



anticipated to reduce the frequency of deferred homes that require other services, outside the
scope of wcatherization, before the vyeatherization measures can be installed provided that
activities adhere to the requirements of the respective Recipients' U.S. DOE executed Historic
Preservation Programrnatic Ajgreement, are installed in or on existing buildings, arid are limited ,
to:

a. Repair/replace damaged windows and doors.
b. ' Minor electrical and plumbing repairs.
c. Roof repairs or replacement including replacing decking material and roof, and/or

changing roof material (e.g., shingles to metal).
d. Interior and exterior wall repairs.
e. Ceiling repairs.
f. Floor repairs.
g. Foundation,or subspace (crawl space) repairs,
h. Exterior drainage repairs lirhited to gutter repair or replacement, arid/or grading

adj^ent to the perimeter of the foundation not to extend more than 3 feet frorri the'
foundation.

I. Minor plumbing repairs,
j. Minor electrical repairs.
k. Clean-up or remediation of lead paint, asbestos (confirmed or suspected,

including verrriiculitc), and riiold and/or moisture beyond typical scope of WAP.

No ground disturbance.(beyo.nd grading adjacent to the perimeter of the foundation not to extend
niqre than 3 feet from the foundation), including tree removal or tree trimming, would occur for
implementation for the above activities.

Activities hot listed above, including ground disturbirtg activities (grading adjacent to the
perimeter of the foundation more than 3 feet from the foundation), and tree removal, or tree
trimming, are pot Included under the ALRD categorical exclusion and are subject to additional
NEPA review and approval by the Department and U.S. DOE.

Activities that do riot qualify as "Allowable Activities" as defined above are subject to additional
NEPA review, which requires additional documentation and submission of an environmental
questionnaire. If the Contractor wants to fund activities that bo hot qualify as "Allowable
Activities," then Contractor agrees to notify the Department's WAP Administrator, and to seek
NEPA review through.the Department's WAP Administrator. Activities requiring NEPA review
are hot authorized for Federal funding and the Contractor may not undertake or fund those
activities unless and until the U.S. DOE Contracting Officer; through the Department WAP
Administrator, provides written authorization for those activities.

All activities related to hazardous material identified during a WAP job will be managed in
accordance with applicable federal, state, and local requirements.

The Contractor agrees to.document confonnance with the Allowable Activities listed above
before commencement of any project.

U.S. DOE Award# DE-EEOOdXXXX; Award C^e; 07/01/2025 CLr\
Wcatherizatioh Assistance Program;-ALN # 8K042 Contnictor Initials Xiisi Date
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The Gbritractor agrees. to complete'the online U.S. DOE training on NEPA and Historic •
Preservation at mvw.encrgv.gov/node/4816816. Proof of complete training must be submitted
to the Department WAP Administrator.

y Chit-i' £K(CLkii\j.t 6-ffi'f/r
Contractor Representative Signature Contractor's Representative Title

rj^rnmunl-fu Se/y//ClS, fnC, . dH/^^(oG
Contractor Naritie w Date

U.S. DOE Award#'DE-EEOPOXXXX; Award Date: 07/01/2025
Weathcriration.Assistance Program, ALN # 8U042
Sbuthwestem Community Services, Inc.

• Exhibit L t

Contractor Initials Dale
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state of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

■|, David M. Scanlon. Secretary of State of the Slate of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY

SERVICES.'INC. is aNew Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Harhpshire on May 19, 1965.
f- • < 1I funher.ccrtify that all fees and documents required by ihc'Sccrctary of State's office have been received and is in good standing

as for as this office is concerned. • ^

Business ID; 65514

'.Certificate Number: 0007142018

%

la.

o
«4>

1^.

IN TESTIMONV'WHEREOF.

1 hereto set my hand and cause to be alTixed

■ the Seal of the State of New Hampshire;

■this 1st day of April A.D. 2025.

David M: Scanlah'

Secretary of State



certificate OF AUTHORITY

1- ^ kevin vii^ttereon ^ .. heceby
j(Narne:dfthe:elect^ Officer of'the CoippratiprVLLC;xannot;b6 contrac^signatpry)

■1 .ilVam a.^ulv''ele'ct^:Cterk/^ecretarv/Offlcer;of Soutbwestern'Gommuriitv" Servlcesi'lhc . • :
'  (CorpoTBUoiVLLC Name)

2>The;following is'a%\ie c»py;of:£^^^^ a meeting'orthe ^ard:of Oirector^shareholdersj duly:<^lled^:and
heid on june i4 ."20 24 \ : at which:a quprum;pf the plrecto^^ were"pireMntX"^''w^^

(Date)'. ■ ,

'VOTED: That - Beth-Daniels . . . . - (maylist mpre'thah'-ohe per^h)
:(Name and Title of Conljact Signatory)

is'duivauttiori2ed:bn*behalfof"Sout'lTwestem Community Services:.inc! ,toenter intocontr^tis'w-^reaT^nfe^
tft'e.State. , - .,

i(Na/T« of CorF^ratiori/ LLC)

of.N,^ fi|ampsHire;and any;dfr^:agencies 6r departments and furthei;ts authbilzed t6>x^ut'e;8^'and!a^
iagreemdnte^ an.d, ahy;arhendmenfe. revistons, ormodlfi^llon^thiBretp;i^i^-'m^^
judgrT^n't be:d£sfi?b|e^or;neces^fyto'el^
•3'J^hereby yotghas .npt'bi^h amended;6r;[epealed:ahd'^re f61^ and
,d'^e gf :^,e.^iract/OT tp;which-this certificate is attach^; this autfiority-jwM .^Ud
.^d^-grjpr tpjarid reinaina valid for;thIrty:(3P) days from;the date of thts;Ceftificate dfTAuthp'rity. I'^ifiirther cet^fy
!tKat;jt|,lsunder«^;thatthe:State.gf New Hampshire:wilU

PUn^ol'y^ocfiypy'ib® P<^fipn'(s) Indkati^ and .fiiat^ey haye full a^^ bind the;(Mi^Hatiph) iTo,/the'
e>^nt th5.&ier0;a^^ on the.authoflhr'pf any list^ ihdMdual'tp bind thVcdfTwratloh^in cbntfa^ vHthithe'
State\oT.New!H3mPShlre. ai are ;e^ressty-,st^ted he'reih!

Datedi:^ 4/23/2025 -
'Si^ature of Elected Of^r
Naj^i'Kevih t^ttersoh

•  ' Title; Ohalrpei^n

Rw;0^4)f20 _



A.CORD CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/OOmrVYJ

12/18/2024

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BEIWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. .

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the ppllcy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate, holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER

The Hiib Group New England, LLC '

PO Box 606

Keene NH-03431 .

NAMet^^ Ana O'Donnell, CPIW, CIC
PHONE , FAX
(A/C. No. E«tl; • (fJC.Noi:

ADDRESS' aodonnell(ghilbgroup.com
INSUR£R(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAICd

INSURER A - Philadelphia indemnity Insurance Co 18058

INSURED ,

Southwestern Community Services, Inc. '

PO Box 603

1

Keene NH 03431-0603

INSURER B; Granite State Healthcare & Human Services Trust '

INSURERC: /

INSURER 0; ■

INSURER E: ' '

INSURER F: - '

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 25/26 REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD

INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS.

CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN.THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,

EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMltS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. ■
AOdLi>UbK POLICY EFF POUCY exp

VWD (MM/DO/VYYYl (MWOO/YYYY)
INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAJMS-MADE ^ OCCUR
EACH OCCURRENCE

CAUASe TO RENTED
PREMISES fEa occunwcal

MED EXP (Aav ona pet»oo)

PHPK2636316 01/01/2025 01/01/2026
PERSONAL 4 ADV INJURY

GENV AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

PRO
JECTX POLICY □?is □ LOG

OTHER:

GENERALAGGREGATE

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

PROFESSIONAL LIAB

1,000,000

1W.OOO

5,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

1M/2M

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AL/TOX

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea acddanO

1,000,000

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY
HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS •
NON-OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

PHPK2636315 01/01/2025 01/01/2026 BODILY INJURY (Per ecddent)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per acddeni)

X UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB '

X OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE .2.000.000

PHUB893672 01/01/2025 01/01/2026 AGGREGATE 2,000.000

DED I X RETENTION S ^0-000
WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

ANY PROPRIETOR/PAHTNERIEXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory In NH) ^
If yes. describe'under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS belOw

PER
^ STATUTE

OTH- .
ER

HCHS20232000036 01/01/2025. 01/01/2026 E.L. EACH ACCIDENT 1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE 1,000,000

e.L, DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT 1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/LOCATIONS/VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Addldonal RefliarLs Schedule, may be attached If more Space Is required)

3a state: NH. All ofTicers Included. THis certiricate Is issued as a matter of information only and confers no rights upon the certificate holder. This certificate
does not amend, extend or alter the coverage afforded by the policies refererKed herein. '

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

.  '

State of New Hampshire

Department of Energy

21 South Fruit St, Ste 10

Concord NH 03301

I

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOtlCE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

• G1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors of

Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements-

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Southwestern
Community Services, Inc. (a New Hanipshire nonprofit cprp'oration) and related companies,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of May 31, 2024, and'the
related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for. the year
then .ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and related companies as of May
31, 2024, and the changes in its net assets'and its cash'flows for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally ̂ accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applica'ble to financial aud'its contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued.by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statemerits section of our report.. We are-required to be independent
of Southwestern Cornmunity Services, Inc. and related companies and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial'statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due.to fraud or error.



In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial idoubt about
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and related companies' ability to continue as a going
concern within one year, after the date that the consolidated financial statements are available
to be issued. , .

Auditors' ResponsibUltles for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance,about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or. error, and

to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and GovernmentAuditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when-it exists. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control."Misstatements are considered material if there'is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable.user
based on the consolidated financial statements*.'

In performing an audit- in accordance with generally'accepted auditing standards and
Government Auditing Standards, vje:

•  Exercise -professional judgment and maintain professional 'skepticism throughout the
audit.

•  Identify and assess the-risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the'consolidated financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

'  and related companies' internal control. Accordingly, np such opinion is expressed.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as:evaluate the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions, or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about .Southwestern Comniunity Services, Inc.
and related companies' ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of
time. ■ '

We are required to communicate with those charged with governahce regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain
internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.



Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have' previously audited Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and related companies'
2023 financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit opiniom on those audited ̂
financial statements in our report dated January 24, 2024. In our opinion, the summarized
comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended May 31, 2023,'''is
■consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial katements from which it has been
derived.

Supplementary Information ^

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forrping an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial
statements, as a. whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as
required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal-Regulations Part 200, Uniforrri Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated fi nancial
statements': Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
consolidated fi nancial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements,and-certain additional
■procedures, including corhparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated fi nancial statements or to the
consolidated financial statements therriselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
schedule of expenditures of federal-awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to
the consolidated fi nancial statements as a whole.

\  <

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 13, 2024, on our consideration'of Southwestern Community .Services, Inc.'s internal
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and ottier rfiatters. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over'financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s internal -control over fi nancial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audifperformed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering Southwestern Community Services, lnc:'s
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Wolfeboro, New-Hampshire
December.13, 2024



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES INC AND RgLATFn COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MAY. 31. 2024 AND 2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents.
Accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses

Total,current assets

PROPERTY

Land and buildings
Vehicles and equipment

Furniture and fixtures

Total property

Less accumulated depreciation

Property, net

OTHER ASSETS

Investment in related parties
Right of use asset
Due from related parties
Cash escrow.and reserve funds

Security deposits
Other assets

Total other assets

Total assets

2024

2:218,833

1,669,491

230,749

4.119.073

35,018,214
669,654

1.233.681

36,921,549

19.589.511

17.332.038

57,683

68,167

.  37,647

1,831,509

133,140

2,128.146

2023

(As Restated)

$  2,237,914

•2,027,517

157,449

4.422.880

30,392,465
647,670

983:264

32,023,399

16.520.026

'■ 15,503,373

64,178
98,159
53,895

1,556,493
111,044

384

1,884,153

$  23,579,257 $" 21,810,406

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES'

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses '
Accrued payroll and payroll,taxes
Other current liabilities
Refundable advances ''
Current portion of lease liability ,, v
Current portion of Economic Injury Disaster Loan
Current portion of jpng term debt

Total current liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued interest
Long term lease liability, less current portion shown above
Economic Injury Disaster Loan, less current portion shown above
Long term debt, less current portion shown above

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

NET ASSETS
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions

.Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

329,964
199,146
129,890
177,631
297,427
32,945
.3,788

190,399

1,361,190

215,232
35,222

141,564
12,177,088

12,569,106

239,270
158,107
235,401
166,988

1,049,917
32,364 *

3,685.
183,158

2,068,890

65,795
144,966

11,103,983

11.314,744

13,930,296 . 13,383,634

9,552,738 •
96,223

9,648,961

8,303,380
123,392

8,426,772

$  23,579,257 $ 21,810,406

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNtTYSERVICFS INr AND RELATED CQMPANIFS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE-YEAR ENDED MAY 31, 2024
WITH PRIOR YEAR SUMMARIZED COMPARATIVE INFORMATION '

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Government contracts

Program service fees
Rental income

Support .
Sponsorship
Interest income

Forgiveness of debt
Miscellaneous

In-kind contributions

%

Total revenues and other support

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

• RESTRICTIONS

Total revenues, other support, and
net assets released from restrictions

EXPENSES

Program services
Home energy programs • •
Education and nutrition

Homeless programs
Housing services

Economic development services
Other'programs

Total program services

Supporting activities
Management and general

Total expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE

GAIN (LOSS) ON SALE OF PROPERTY

GAIN (LOSS) ON SALE OF ASSETS

LOSS ON INVESTMENT IN LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS. BEGINNING OF YEAR, AS ORGINALLY STATED

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

NET ASSETS. BEGINNING OF YEAR. AS RESTATED

NET ASSETS TRANSFERRED FROM

^  LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

NET ASSETS. END OF YEAR

Without Donor

Restrictions

S 15,733,967

-■2,626,199
1.938,308

605,479
40,865
27,215
89,089

198,447
64,736

21,324,305

62,959

21.387.264

8,791,961
3,363,127
2,418.438
3,070,415
1,114,069

822,929

19,580,939

2.344.056

21,924,995

'(537,731)

331,439

(9.138)

(215,430)

8,303,380

8,303,380

1,464,788

With Donor

Restrictions

35,790

35,790

(62,959)

^27.169)

(27,169)

(27,169)

123,392

123,392

2024

Total

$ 15,733,967
2,626,199

•  ' .1,938,308
641,269
40,865
27,215
89,089

198,447
64,736

,  21,360,095

21.360.095

8,791,961
3,363,127
2.418,438
3,070,415
1,114,069

822,929

19,580,939

2,344,056

21,924,995

(564,900)

331,439

(9,138)

(242,599)

8,426,772

8,426,772

1,464,788

2023

(As Restated)

S.23,407,391
'2,480,960
1,873,226
, 715,146

8,197
•  18,235
166,931
104,742
69,852

28,844,680

28.844.680

9,895,617
3,090,471
9,417,446
3,113.505

731,021
678,220

26,926,280

2,360,358

29,286,638

(441,958)

2,936

(30,052)

(469,074)

8,698,976

196,870

8,895,846

S  9,552,738 S 96,223 $' 9,648,961 $ 8,426,772

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES \UC' AND RELATED COMPANIFS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS .

.  FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in net assets
Adjustmenfs to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash from operating activities: ,
Dep^ciation
Amortization of deferred finandng costs
Gain on sale of assets

Loss on investment in limited partnerships
Forgiveness of debt

Decrease (increase) in assets:
Accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses
Due from related parties
Security deposits
Other assets

(Decrease) increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes
Other current liabilities

Refundable advances

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property
Purchase of property

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINWJCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from long term clebt
'Repayment of long term debt

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH. BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH TRANSFERRED

FROM LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH. END OF YEAR

$  (242,599) $ (469,074)

1,059,580 ,  1,036,769
662 662

(331,439) (2,936)
9,138 ,  30,052

(89,089) (166,931)

358,026 (281,565)
(64,541) 86,541

13,935 (6,329)
(5,595)' (11)

384
•

87,717 31.235

21,212 (71,003)
(105.511) (118,385)

10,643 ' 8,016
(752.490) (272,835)

(29,967) •' (195,794)

418,812 3,301
(363,642) (467,807)

55,'170 ..(464,506)

6,377 8,581
(204,221) (187,127)

(197,844) (178,546)

(172,W.I) (838.846)

■  3,794,407 4,633,253

428,576

$  4,050,342 $  3,794,407

See Note's to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during the year for interest $  ̂ 167.158 $ 171,568

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Property financed by long term debt

' Transfer of assets from newly consolidated LPs:
Prepaid expenses
Land and buildings
Furniture and fixtures

Equipment
Security deposits

Total transfer of assets from newly consolidated LPs

Transfer of liabilities from newly consolidated LPs:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued interest

Due to related parties
Long term debt

Total transfer of liabilities from newly cohsolidated LPs

Total partners' capital from newly consolidated LPs

Partners'^capital previously recorded as investment in related parties

Total transfer of partner's capital from new.consolidated LP •

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH:

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash escrow and reserve funds

Total cash and restricted cash

$  253,318 $ 227,421

8,759

2,112,578

227,560

18,520
16,501

$  2,383,918

2,977

19,827

215,232

2,313
1,110,000

1,462,145

2,'643

$  2,218,833
1,831,509

$  4,050,342

$  1,350,349 $

$  1,464,788 $

$  2,237,914
1,556,493

i' 3,794,407

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNtiNG
POLICIES

General

Southwestern Community Services, Inc. is a New Hampshire nonprofit
corporation formed as an umbrella corporation that offers an array of services to
the elderly, disabled, and low-income households in the Cheshire and Sullivan
counties of New Hampshire. Various programs provide assistance in the areas
of education, child development, employment, energy, and its conservation,
housing, and .homelessness prevention. Services are provided through
Southwestern Community Services, "Inc., and its related corporations, SCS
Management Corporation, SCS Housing, Inc., SCS Development'Corporation,

^ SCS Housing-Development, Inc., and various limited partnerships, as described
below. The Organization is committed to providing respectful support services"

.  and assisting individuals and families in achieving self-sufficiency by helping
them overcome the causes of poverty. The primary source of revenues is
derived from governmental contracts.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Southwestern

Community Services, Inc. and the following entities (collectively the
Organization) as Southwestern Community Services, Inc. has both an economic
interest and cpntrol of the entities through a majority, voting interest in'their
governing board. All significant intercompany itenis and transactions have been
eliminated from the basic consolidated financial statements.

SCS Management Corporation
SCS Housing, Inc.
SCS Development Corporation
SCS Housing Development, Inc.
Drewsville Carriage House;Associates, Limited Partnership (Drewsville)
Sold June 2023 ' , ■

Troy Senior Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Troy Senior)
Keene East Side Senior Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Keene
East Side)
Winchester Senior Housing Associates, Limited, Partnership (Winchester)
Swanzey Township Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Swanzey)
Snow Brook Meadow Village Housing Associates, Limited Partnership
(Snow Brook)
Keene Highland Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Keene
Highland) ■

Wanwick Meadow Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Warwick)
Railroad Square Senior Housing Limited Partnership (Railroad Square)

10



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY'31. 2024 AND 2023

Basis of Accounting.

The consolidated financial statements of the Organization have been prepared
utilizing the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Organization'have been prepared
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (US GAAP),
which require the Organization to report information regarding its financial
position and activities according to the following net asset classifications. The
classes of net assets are determined by the presence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

i  ' •

Net assets without donor restrictions: include net assets that are not subject
to any donor-imposed restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in
performing the primary objectives of the Organization. These net assets
may be used at the discretion of the Organization's management and
board of directors.

Net assets with donor restrictions: include net assets subject to stipulations
imposed by donors and grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in
nature: those .restrictions will be met by actions of the Organization or by
passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual in nature, whereby
the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetujty.

As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the Organization had net assets without donor
restrictions and with donor restriction's (see Note 12).

The, financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative
information in total but not by net asset class. Such information does not
include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with generally
accepted accountirig principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in
conjunction with'the Organization's financial statements for the year ended May
31, 2023 from which the summarized information was derived.

Estimates. -
The presentation of financial statements in cohformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

11



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED CQMPANIFS

NOTES TO, CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

f' ■

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash, flows, the Organization considers, all
liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to
be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Organization maintains its cash accounts in several financial institutions,
which at times may exceed federally insured limits. .The Organization has not
experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is hot exposed to any
significant risk with respect to these accounts.

Current Vulnerabilitv Due to Certain Concentrations
The 'Organization ■ is operated in a heavily regulated environment. The
operations of the Organization are/subject to the., administrative directives;
rules and regulations of federal, state and local regulatory agencies. Such
administrative directives, rules and regulations are subject to change by an act
of Congress or-Legislature.,. Such changes, may occur with little notice or
inadequate funding to pay for the related, cost, including the additional
administrative burden, to comply with a change. For the years ended May'31,
2024 and 2023, approximately 74% 'and 81%, respectively, of the
Organization's total revenue was received from government agericies. The
future nature of the Organization is dependent upon continued support-from
the government.

1

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect
from balances outstanding at year end. The Organization uses historical loss

'  information based^on.the aging receivables as the basis to deterrriine expected
credit losses from receivables and believes that the composition of receivables
at year-end is consistent with'historical conditions as credit terms and practices

.  and the client base has not changed significantly. The allowance for
uncollectible accounts was estimated to be zero at May 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The Organization has no policy for charging interest on overdue
accounts.

In-Kind Donations / Noncash trarisactions

' The Organization records various types of in-kind support including professional
services'and materials. Contributed professional services are recognized if the
service received creates or enhances long-lived assets or requires specialized
skill, are prpvided by individuals possessing.those skills, and would typically need
to be purcha'sed if not provided by donation. Contributions of tangible assets are
recognized at:fair value vyheri received. The Organization received $64,736 and
$69,852 in donated services and materials for the years ended May 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively (see Note 16).
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC AND RELATFD COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

Refundable Advances

The Organization' records grant and contract revenue as refundable advances ,
until it is expended for the purpose of'the grant or contract, .at vjhich time it is
recognized as revenue.

Propertv and Depreciation

Purchased property and equipment are stated at cost at the date of acquisition
or at fair value at the date of receipt in the case of donated property. The
Organization generally capitalizes and depreciates all assets with a cost
greater than $5,000 and an expected life greater than one year. Depreciation
is provided for using the straight-line method in amounts designed to amortize ■
the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives as fgllows:

Buildings and improvements 10 ̂ 40 Years
Vehicles and equipment 5-10 Years
Furniture and fixtures 7. Years

The use of certain assets is specified under the terms of grants received from
agencies of the federal government. These grants also-place liens on certain
assets and impose restrictions on the 'Use,of funds received from the
disposition of the property. Depreciation expense for the years ended May 31,
2024 and 2023 totaled $1,059,580 and $1,036,769,^respectively.

Advertising

The Organization expenses advertising costs as incurred.

Income Taxes

Southwestern Comrnunity Services, Inc. and SCS Management Corporation
are exempt from Federal income taxes under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code and are not private foundations. As such, they are exempt
from income tax on their exempt function incoroe.

SCS Housing, Inc., SCS. Development Corporation , and SCS Housing
Development, Inc. are taxed as corporations. SCS Housing Inc. has federal net
operating loss carryforwards available for the May 31, 2024 and 2023 tax returns
totaling $1,322-915 and $1,276,789,. respectively. These loss carryforwards may

"'be offset against future taxable income and, if not used, will begin to expire in
2027. SCS Development Corporation has federal net operating loss carryforwards
totaling $497 and $509 at May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These loss
carryfonwards may be offset against future taxable income and, if not used,.began
to expire in 2023. SCS Housing Development, Inc. has federal net operating loss
carryforwards totaling $140,337 and^$89,166 at May 31. 2024 and 2023,.
respectively, these loss carryfgrwards .may be offset against future taxable
income and, if not used, will begin to expire in 2035.

"  The tax effects of the carryfonwards as related to-deferred fax assets is as
-  follows as of May 31;
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC: AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 " 2023

Tax benefit from loss carryforwards '$307,387 $286,957
Valuation allowance • (307.387) (286.957)

Deferred tax asset $ -

Troy Senior, Winchester, Keene East Side, Swanzey, Snow'Brook; Keene
Highland, Wanwick, and Railroad Square are taxed as partnerships. Federal
income taxes.are not payable by, or provided for these' entities. Earnings and
losses are included in the partners' federal income lax returns based on their
share of partriership earnings. Partnerships are required to file income tax returns
with the State of New Hampshire and pay an incorne tax at the state's statutory
rate.

Accounting Standard Codification No. 740, "Accounting for Income Taxes,"
'established the minimum threshold for recognizing, and a system for
measuring, the benefits of tax return .positions in financial statements.
Management has analyzed the Organization's tax position taken on-its income
tax returns for all open years and has concluded that no additional provision
for income taxes is necessary in the Organization's financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC Topic No. ;825-10, Financial Instruments, provides a definition of fair
value which focuses An an exit price rather than an entry price, establishes'a
framework in generally accepted accounting principles for measuring fair value
which emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an
entity-specific measurement, and requires expanded disclosures about fair
value measurements. In^ accordance with PASS ASC 820, the" Organization
may use valuation techniques consistent with market, income' and cost
approaches to .measure fair value. As a basis for considering market
participant assumptions in fak value fneasurements, FASB ASC 820
establishes^ a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the" inputs used in
measuring fair values. The. hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1
measurements and the lowest priority to iLevel 3 measurements. The three
levels of the fair value hierarchy under FASB ASC 820 are*described as
follows: ■

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices available
in active.markets for identical investments as of the reporting date.

Level 2- Inputs to the valuation methodology are other than quoted market
prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as
of the reporting date, and fair value can be determined through the use of
models or'other valuation methodologies.
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

<  ̂

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable inputs in
situations where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability
and the reportirig entity makes estimates and assumptions related to the
pricing .of the asset or liability including assumptions regarding risk.

■  The carrying.amount of cash, account's receivables, accounts payable, accrued
expenses, and refundable advances approximates fair value because of the
short rhaturity of those, instruments.

Support and Revenue Recognition

Contracts with Customers

. Program fees are reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which
■  the Organization expects to be entitled for providing childcare services to its

clients."

Generally, the Organization bills customers and third-party payors several days
after the services are performed. Revenue Hs recognized as performance
obligations are satisfied. Performance obligations are determined based on the
nature of the services provided by the. Organization. The Organizatiori
measures the"-performance obligations of its childcare services to the point
when it is, no longer required to provide services to the client, which is generally
weekly for childcare services. These services are considered to be'a single
performance obligation.

Revenue for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is recognized
when services are provided, and the Organization does not believe it is required
to provide additional services to the client. > ■ '

Based on the nature of services provided by the Organizalipn and due to the
fact that all of the Organization's performance obligations related to contracts
with a duration of less than one year,-, the Organization has elected to apply the
optional exemption provided in FASB ASC 606-10-50-14(a) and, therefore is not
required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
performance obligations that are'unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of
the reporting period.

The transaction price for childcare services is based on standard charges for
services provided to clients. Under the terms of the State of New Hanipshire
Department of Health and Human Services childcare, subsidy programs,
reimbursement for childcare services provided may differ :from established
rates. It is the Organization's policy to set its rates to be consistent with current
reimbursement rates. Therefore, amounts due' do not include significant variable
consideration subject to retroactive revenue .adjustments due to settlement of
reviews and audits.
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED CQMPANIFR

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

Private Grant Revenue and Contributions '

Private grant contributions are recognized when cash, securities or other
.  assets, an unconditional promise to. give, or notification of a beneficial interest

is received. Conditional promises to , give are not recognized until the,
conditions on which they depend have been substantially met. Support that is
restricted by the donor is reported as an increase in.net assets without donor
restrictions, if the restriction expires in the reporting period- in which the
support is recognized. All other donor-restricted support is reported as an
increase in net assets vyith donor restrictions, depending on the nature of the
restriction. When a restriction - expires, (that is," when a stipulated time
restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished); net assets with donor
restrictions are reclassified to riet assets without donor restrictions and
reported in the combined statements of activities as net assets released from
restrictions. " ■

Grants and Support

Grant revenue is derived from various federal grant agreements and various
state and private entity passthrough_ grant agreements^ and contracts to
provide funding support of the Organization's.programs and services provided
by the Organization including childcare, child development, social,' health,

.  nutrition, employment, language,, energy, and special needs services to
families enrolled in the Organization's, programs. The Organization has.
evaluated its grant agreements against applicable accounting standard
guidance and determined that the grant agreements are contributions
(nonreciprocal transaction) conditioned upon certain, performance
requirements and/or incurrence of allowable qualifying expenses. Amounts
received are recognized as revenue when the Organization has incurred
expenses in compliance-with specific provisions of the grant.agreements.

Rental Revenue

The Organization derives revenues from the rental of apartment units.
Revenues are recognized as income, monthly, when rents become due and
control of the apartment units is transferred to the lessees. The individual
leases are for a term of one year and are cancelable by the tenants. Control
of the leased units is transferred to the lessee in an amount that reflects the
consideration the Partnership expects to be entitled tojn exchange for the
leased units. The cost incurred to obtain a lease, will be'expensed as
incurred.
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs' of providing the various programs and other activities have been
summarized on a functional basis. Natural expenses are'defined by their
nature, such as-salahes, rent, supplies, etc. Functional expenses are classified
by the type of activity for \which expenses are incurred,-such as management
and general and direct program costs. Expenses are^ allocated by function
using a reasonable and consistent approach that is primarily based on function
and use. '

The costs of providing certain program and' supporting services have tjeen
directly charged. . /

The Organization submits an indirect cost rate proposal for the paid leave,
.  fringe benefits and other^indirect costs to the U.S. Department of Health and

Human services. The indirect cost rate is 12% effective from June 1, 2021
through May 31, 2024.

New Accountmq Pronouncement

At June 1, 20,23, the Organization adopted'FASB ASU 2016.13, Financial
Instruments^Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments, as amended, which modifies the measurement of
expected credit - losses oh certain financial instruments. The Organization
adopted this new guidance utilizing the modified retrospective transition
method. The_adoption of this^ Standard'did not have a material impact on the
Organization's financial statements.

NOTE 2 BANK LINE OF CREDIT

The Organization has a $250,000 revolving line of credit agreement with a bank.
Interest is due monthly and is stated at the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate or at
a floor rate of 4%. The line, is secured by all the Orgariization's assets. As of
May 31, 2024 and 2023j the interest rate was 8.50% and 8.25%, respectively.
There was no. outstanding balance at May 31, 2024 and 2023.

NOTE 3 LONG TERM DEBT

The long term, debt consisted of the following at May 31

1% mortgage payable to New Hampshire
Housing in monthly installments for principal and
interest of $891 through August 2032. The note
is secured by real estate of the Organizatioii
(NHHi 96 Main Street).

2024 2023

$  89,887 $ 107,975
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

*  ̂ . ''

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

Non-interest , bearing mortgage payable to
Community Development Finance Authority, in
.quarterly principal payments based on an
operating income formula applied to affordable
housing portion of the specified real estate. The-
note is secured by real estate of the Organization
(CDFA, 96 Main Street). 21,589. 23,589

Non-interest bearing mortgage payable to New
Hampshire Housing. Payment is deferred for 30
,years, through September 2031, or until project is
sold or refinanced. The note is secured by real
estate of the Organization (NHH;-17 Pearl). 242,708 242,708

Non-interest bearing mortgage payable to New-
Harnpshire Housing. Payment is deferred for 30
years; through' July 203^ unless there is surplus,
cash from which to make a payment, or until
project is sold or refinanced. The notejs secured
by real estate of the Organization (NHH, 41-43
Central), 376,068 376,066

4.25% mortgage payable to a bank in monthly
installments for principal and interest of $T,875
through Deceniber 2016, with a balloon payment
■that was due January 2017. The note was
amended during the'year ended May 31', 2019, •
and is now,due December 2026. ''Under the ;
amendment, interest rate is 4.94% and monthly^
installments for principal and interest are $1,957
The note is secured by real estate of the
Organization (M&T Bank, Milestones). ■ 55,113 ■ .75,268

4.375% note payable to Rural Housing Service In
monthly installments for principal, and interest of
$11,050 thro,ugh May 2049. the note is secured
by real estate of the Organization (TD Bank, '
Keene Office). . 2,010,552 2,053,855-

.  'Non-interest bearing note payable to Cheshire
County in New Hampshire. Payment is not
necessary unless Organization defaults on
contract. The note is secured by real estate of the
Organization (CDBG, Keene Office). 460,000 460,000.
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

Note payable to a bank in monthly installments
for principal and interest of' $^463 .inbluding
interest through May .2039. Interest is adjusted
every five years based oh remaining principal
balance and "Classic Advantage Rate" provided
by Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston which ̂
resulted in an interest rate of 4.67% at May 31,
2024 and 2023'. The note is secured by real
estate' -of the Organization (ID Bank, Keene
Office/Community Way). - 333,951 348,687

Non-interest tiearing note payable to the United • '
States Department of Housing and Urban
Development. No payment is due-and beginning
in January 2015 10% of the note is forgiven each
year providing the property is used for low
income housing.through January 2024. The note
was forgiven in full during the year ended May
31, 2024. The note was secured by real estate of
the Organization (HUD, Ashuelot). - 25,000

Non-interest bearing note payable to the United
States Department of Housing' and Urban
Developrnent.^No payment is due and beginning
in January 2015 10% of the note is forgiven each '
year providing the property is used ' for low
income housing through January 2024., The note
was forgiven in full during the year-ended May
31, 2024. The note was secured by real estate of
the Organization (HUD, 112 Charlestown Road).' - 15,000

Non-interest bearing note payable to New
Hampshire Housing in annual payments in the
amount of 50% of annual surplus cash through
July 2042 at which time the remaining balarice is
due. The note is secured by real estate of the
Organization (NHH, Second Chance). 794,189 794;189
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED CQMPANIFS

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

' FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023
Non-interest bearing note payable to a county in
New Hampshire. No payrrient is due and 5% of
the balance is forgiven each' year through 2032,
when the remaining balance becomes due. The
note is secured by real estate of the Organization
(CDBG, Second Chance). ■ 267,336 281,406

Non-interest bearing note payable to a county in
New Hampshire, relating to an agreement
between the City of Keene and SCS for the
purpose of renovating Keene shelters. In total,

■ SCS will receive $472,000 from CDBG. .The
agreement was amended during the year'ended
May 31, 2023 to increase the total loan to

■ $784,021. SCS will receive the funds as progress
is made. The note is secured by real estate, of the
Organization and will be fully forgiven providing
the facility .'serves low- and moderate-income

individuals for 20 years (Keene Shelters). , 648,960 648,960

Non-interest bearing note payable to a county in
New Hampshire, relating to" an agreement

. between the City ofplaremonl and SCS for the
purpose of renovating the Claremont shelter. In
total, SCS will re'ceive $365,568 from CDBG-CV.
The note iis secured by real estate of the
Organization and will be fully forgiven providing
the facility serves low- and moderate-income
individuals for 20 years (Claremont Shelter). ' 365,568 112,250

2.99% note payable to. a bank in monthly
installments for ̂ principal and interest of $820
through May 2031. The note is secured by real
estate of the Organization (Savings Bank * of
Walpole, 45 Central Street). ■. 62,116 69,327

Non-interest bearing note payable to the City of
Keene, New Hampshire, with an original balance
of $240,000 reduced to $204,000 when .the
Organization acquired the note from Keene
Housing jn July 2020. No payment is due and 5%
of the balance is forgiven each year through June
2037. The note is secured by real estate of the .
Organization (City of Keene, 139 Roxbury
Street). 168,000 180,000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

■ 3.575% note payable to a finance company in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$650 through September 2026. The note is

t ' secured by a vehicle (Leaf, Dodge Ram). . 16,989 23,914
•» s

3.75% note payable to a finance company in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$530 through November 2026. The note is

■ secured by a vehicle (Leaf, Promaster Van)., ^ , ■14,570 20,166

4.373% note payable to a finance company in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$534 through December 2026. The note, is
secured by a vehicle (Leaf, Promaster Van). 15,170 20,766

6.04%'^note payable to a finance company in • .
monthly installments fpr principal and interest of
$626 through June 2027. The note is secured by ' ^
a vehicle (Leaf, Promaster Van). • - ' 20,611 26,649

5.64% note payable to a finance company in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$621 through July 2027. The note is,secured by a
vehicle (Leaf, Promaster Van). 20,881 ■ 26,836

5.88% note payable to' a finance company in
monthly installments for principal and interest of . ' ^
$631 through September 2027. The note is
secured by a vehicle (Leaf, Promaster Van). 22,304' 28,337

Troy Senior - Non-interest bearing note payable
to a county in Ne\w Hampshire. Payments are
deferred until the note matures in June 2029. the
note is secured by real estate of the Organization
(CDBG). 640,000 640,000

Troy Senior - Non-interest bearing note payable
to Ne\A/ Hampshire Housing Finance Authority to . ' ■
fund energy efficient improvements through the
Authority's Greener Homes Program. Payment is
deferred for 30 years, through August 2042. , The
note is secured by real estate of the Organization
(NHH)' 140.210 , 140,210
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 ' 2023
• Keene East Side - Non-interest bearing note^
payable' to a county in. New Hampshire. , ■
Payments are deferred until the note matures in \ ■ ■

,  December 2028. The'note is secured by real'
estate of the Organization (ODBC). ' ' - 900,000 900,000

Keene East Side Non-interest bearing note
payable to New Hampshire Community
Development Finance Authority (CDFA) to fund'
energy upgrades and capital improvements.
Beginning in 2016, 10% of the note is forgiven
each- year'based on the rolling balance. The
mortgage may be released after, ten years in
January 2026. The note is secured by real estate
of the Organization (CDFA). 70,802 93,821

Keene East Side - Non-interest bearing note'
.  payable to New Hampshire Housing to fund '

energy efficient ^ improvements through the.
Authority's Greener Homes Program. Payment is ■ '
-deferred for 30 years, through August 2042. The
note is secured by real estate of the Organization
(NHH). 228,934 228,934

Swanzey - Non-recourse, 4.90% simple interest
.mortgage note payable to the New Hampshire
Housing (HOME), due September, 2033, ̂ "
principal • and interest payable at the sole ■
discretion of the lender from the excess cash of

the borrower determined by formula, secured by
the Partnership's land and buildings, subject to
low income housing use'restrictions for the 30
year term of the mortgage. 300,011 293,634

Swanzey - Non-recourse mortgage note payable
• to'" New Hampshire Housing (AHF)', due
September 2043, payable, in monthly installments
of $1,698, including interest at 2.35% secured by
the Partnership's land and buildings, subject to
low income housing use- restrictions for the 40
year term of the mortgage. 316,096 328,879
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

Snow Brook - Non-recourse; mortgage note
payable to New Hampshire Housing, due July
2057, payable in- monthly installments of $2,002
including interest at 4.35% secured by the;
Partnership's land and buildings, subject to low
income housing use restrictions for the 30 year
term of the mortgage. ' 420,938 • 426,517

Snow Brook - Non-recourse, zero interest

rriortgage note payable to New Hampshire
Housing (AHF), due June 2034, principal and
interest payable at the sole discretion of the
lender from the excess cash of the borrower

determined , by formula, secured by the
Partnership's land and buildings, subject to lovy
income housing use restrictions for the 30 year
terrh of the mortgage. . 222,402 229,826

Winchester - Non-recourse mortgage note
payable to New Hampshire Housing (AHF), due
May 2032, payable in monthly installments of
$370, including interest at 2.00%, secured by the '
Partnership's, land and buildings, subject to' low ■

income housing use restrictions for the 30 year
term of the mortgage note (NHH). 32,432 36,178

■  Winchester - Non-recourse, zero interest bearing
mortgage note payable to New Hampshire
Housing (FAF), due May 2032, payable at the
sole discretion of the lender from the excess cash

. of the borrower determined by formula, secured
by'the Partnership's'land and buildings, subject
to low income housing use restrictions for the 30-
year term of the mortgage note (NHH). 72,769 75,836

V. ' ' • .

Winchester - Non-recourse, zero interest bearing,
direct subsidy AHP loan secured by the
Partnership's land and buildings, subject to low-
income housing restrictions under the terms of
the AHP agreement. In the event of a default
under the aforementioned ag'reement, the loan is
due upon demand with interest accrued at a rate
of 11.67% for the period the .funds were
outstanding (Federal Home Loan Bank). 150,000 150,000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023
Keene Highland - Non-recourse mortgage note
payable to New Hampshire Housing "(AHF), due
August 2035, payable in monthly installments of ' '
$3,122, including interest at 2.90%,-secured by
the Partnership's land'and buildings,-subject to
low income housing use restrictions for the 30
year term of the mortgage note (NHH). 356,966 ^383,653

Keene Highland --30 year, zero interest, non
recourse deferred mortgage note payable to the
City of Keene, New Hampshire due June 2035,
payment of principal is deferred until the due '
date, secured by land, and buildings (City of
Keene). ' 915-,000 915,000

Warwick - 30 year, zero interest, non-recourse
deferred mortgage note payable to the Town of
Winchester, New Hampshire due August 2036, -
payment of principal is deferred until the due
date, secured by land and buildings (Town of
Winchester). 500,000 500,000'

Railroad Square - 30 year, zero interest, non
recourse deferred mortgage note payable to the
City of Keene, New Hampshire, due December
2039, payment of principal Js deferred until the-
due.date, secured by land and buildings (City of-
Keene). 460,000

Railroad Square - Non-recourse, 4.21% interest
mortgage note payable to New Hampshire
Housing'(HOME), due . June 2038, p^ayments
made (applied first to interest accrued) at the sole
discretion, of the lender from the excess cash of

the borrower determjned by formula', secured by
the Partnership's land and buildings, subject, to ' ^
low income housing use restrictions for the 30 ' v
year term of the mortgage note (NHH). Accrued
interest related to.this note was $215,232 at May
31,2024. 450,000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2024 AND 2023

2024 2023

Railroad Square - Non-recourse, zero interest,
mortgage note payable to Federal Home Loan
Bank of Boston, due June 2024, principal
payable at the sole discretion of the lender from
the excess cash of the borrower determined by
formula, secured by the Partnership's land and
buildings, subject to an -affordable housing
program agreement for the 15 year term of the
mortgage note (Federal Home Loan Bank). • 200.000

Total long-term debt before unamortized deferred
financing costs -

Unamortized deferred financing costs

Less current portion due within one year

12,383,120 11,303,436

.  V15.633) ■  (16.2951

12,367,487-, 11.287,141

.  190.399 183.158"

$12,177,088 $11 103 983

•  The schedule of maturities of long term debt at May 31, 2024 is as follows:

Year Ending
May 31 Amount

2025 $ 190,399
2026 197,955 ■

. 2027 ■ 180,404
2028 146,734

2029 1,049,278

Thereafter 10.618.350

Total $12,383,120

NOTE 4 ECONOMIC INJURY DISASTER LOAN

During June 2020, the Organization received an Economic Injury DisasterXoan
(EIDL) from the Small Business Administration with proceeds in the amount of
$150,000. The EIDL is payable over 30 years at an interest rate of 2.75% with a
deferral of payments for 30 months from; the*date of the note.' Installments,
including principal and interest, of $641 monthly begin in December 2022., The
balance of principal and interest will be payable in December"2052. The loan is
secured by the Small Business Administration. EIDL balance at May 31, 2024
and 2023 was $145,352 and $148,651, respectively.
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The scheduled maturities of the EIDL as of May 31, 2024 were as follows:

Year Ending
May 31

2025

2026

2027

2028 "

2029

Thereafter

Total

Amount

$■ 3,788
3,893
4,001
4,113
4,227

125.330

S  145.352

NOTE 5 FORGIVENESS OF DEBT
During the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, the Organization realized
forgiveness of debt income in connection with notes-payable-to Community

■ Development Block 'Grant, HUD' and Community Development Finance
Authority, forgiveness of debt income totaled $89,089 and $166,931 for the
years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 6 OPERATING LEASES
The right of use (ROU) asset represents the Organization's right to use
underlying assets for the lease term, and the lease liability represents the
Organization's obligation to make lease payments'arising from thesa leases.
The ROU asset and lease liability, all of which arise from operating leases,
were calculated based on the present value of future lease payments over the
lease terms. The Organization has elected to discount future cash f[ows at the
risk free borrowing rates commensurate with the lease terms, which was 1.8%.
Common expenses, classified as-occupancy costs in the accompanying
financial statements, are considered a non-lease component under PASS ASC
842 and are recognized as costs are incurred. The Organization's operating
leases are described below.

The Organization leases facilities, equipment and vehicles under non-
cancelable lease agreemehts at various financial institutions. Lease periods
range from month to rnonth to 2028. Monthly lease payments range from $470
to $4,050. Lease expense for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled
$99,015 and $143,725, respectively.

The weighted average lease term at May 31, 2024 is 1.67 years. The weighted
average discount rate at May 31, 2024 is 1.80%.
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Future minimum payments as of May 31, 2024 on the above leases are as
follows: '

Year Ending
May 31

■ 2025

2026

2027

Amount

$  32,945
23,379

-  13.288

69,612

Less imputed interest

Total

1.445

S  68.167

NOTE 7 • ACCRUED COMPENSATED BALANCES

■ At May 31, 2024 and 2023, the Organization accrued a liability for future annual
leave tinie that its employees had earned and vested in-the amount of $155,985
and $149,156, respectively.

NOTE 8 CONTINGENCIES

Southwestern Community Services, Inc. is the 100% owner of SOS Housing,
Inc. and SOS Housing Development, Inc. SOS Housing, Inc-. and SOS
Housing Development, Inc. are the general partners of eight limited

■ partnerships^formed to develop low-income housing projects through the use
, of Low Income Housing Tax Credits. Southwestern Community Services, Inc.,
SCS Housing, Inc. and SCS Housing Development, Inc. have guaranteed
repayment of liabilities of various partnerships totaling approximately
$10,200,000 and $10,300,000 at May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively./

'  f

Partnership^ real estate with a cost basis of approximately $22,400 at May 31,
2024 and 2023 provides collateral on these-loans.

The Organization receives funds under various state grants and from Federal
sources. Under the terms of these agreements, the Organization is required to
use the funds within a- certain * period and for purposes specified by the
governing laws and regulations. If costs were found not to have been incurred
in compliance with the laws and regulations, the Organization might be
required to repay the funds.

No provisions have been made for this contingency because specific amounts,
if any, have not been determined or assessed by government audits as of May
31, 2024 and 2023.
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NOTE 9 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, SOS Housing, Inc. managed
nine limited partnerships. Management fees charged by SOS Housing, Inc.
totaled $256,642 and $243,847, for.the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Additionally, SOS Housing. Inc. has advanced the limited
partnerships funds for cash flow purposes over several years.

The Organization has also advanced funds to a related entity for Department
of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) sponsorship purposes.

» .

- The total amounts due and expected to .be collected from the limited
partnerships and related entities totaled $37,647 and $53,895 at May 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 10 . EQUITY INVESTMENT

Southwestern Community Services,.Inc. and related companies use the equity
method to account for,their financial interests in the following companies:

Cityside Housing Associates, LP
Marlborough Homes, LP -
Payson Village Senior Housing Associates, LP
Woodcresl Drive Housing Associates, LP
Westmill Senior Housing, LP
Railroad Square Senior Housing Associates, LP
Alstead Senior Housing Associates, LP

2024

(9,528)

■  (87)
(12,563)
. 98,329

6

(18.4741

2023

(9.522)
(73)

(12,553)
107,416

20

(2,643)
(18.4671

$  57.683 £ 64.178

SOS Housing Development, Inc. is a 0.01% partner of Cityside^ Housing
Associates, LP, Marlborough Homes, LP, Payson Village Senior Housing
Associates, LP, Warwick Meadows Housing Associates, LP, Woodcrest Drive
Housing Associates, LP, Alstead Senior Housing Associates, LP, a 0.10%
partner of Railroad Square Senior Housing Associates, LP and a 1% partner of
Westmill Senior Housing, LP during the years erided May 31, 2024 and 2023.

The remaining 99.90% ownership interest in-Railroad Saure Senior Housing
Associates, LP was acquired by. Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
During the.year ended May 31, 2024 (see Note 13), and therefore the limited
partriership-is included in the consolidated financial statements for,, the year
ended May 31, 2024.
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SOS Housing, Inc. is a 0.01%; partner of Winchester Senior Housing
Associates, LP, Swanzey Township Housing Associates, LP. Snow Brook
Meadow Village Housing Associates, LP, and* Keene Highland Housing
Associates, LP during the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023.

Summarized financial information for entities accounted for under the equity
method, as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, consists of the following:

2024 2023

Total assets S  44.581 S  49.237

Total liabilities 13:045' ' 14,695
Capital/Member's equity. 31.536- - 34.632

$ 44.581 $  49.327

Income $ 3,284 $  3,576

Expenses 4.489 . 4.975

Net loss $ n.205) " ^ $. f1.399V

NOTE 11 ^ RETIREMENT PLAN

The Organization maintains a tax sheltered annuity plan under the provisions
of Section 403(bj of the internal Revenue Code.'All employees
who have had at least 30 days of service to the Organization are
eligible to contribute to the plan. The Organization begins matching
contributions after the employee has reached one year of service.
Employer contributions.are at the Organization's discretion and
totaled $383,830 and $349,285 for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

NOTE 12 RESTRICTIONS ON NEt ASSETS
Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes:

GAPSAA/arm Fund

Head Stall Parents Assbciatiop

Total net assets with donor restrictions

2024

88,462

7.761

2023

116,369

7.023

'96.223 > $ 123.392
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NOTE 13 TRANSFER OF PARTNERSHIP INTEREST

During the year ended May 31, 2024, Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
acquired a partnership interest in a low-income housing limited partnership:
Railroad Square. The amount paid for the partnership interest in Railroad
Square was $1, and at the time of acquisition. Southwestern Community
Services, Inc. became the limited partner.

The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities of the partnership at
the date of acquisition:

Railroad

Square

Date of Transfer

Cash

Security deposits
Cash reserves

Property, net
Other assets

Total assets

»

Notes payable
•Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Partners' capital

05/21/2024

$  139,243
'  16,501

289,333

2,358,658

8.759

■ 2.812.494

1,1.10,000

240.349

1.350.349

$ 1.462.145

NOTE 14 BOARD DESIGNATED NET ASSETS

The board designates^a portion of the unrestricted net assets for WM Marcello
GAPS fupds. There was $9,301 and $12,792 designated by the board at May
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY

The following represents Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and related
companies' financial assets as of May 31:

Financiahassets at year end:
,  Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Due from related party
Cash escrow and reserve funds

Total financial assets

Less'amounts not available to be used

within one year:

Due from related party
Reserve funds

Total amounts not available within one year

Financial assets available to meet general
expenditures over the next twelve months

2024

$  2,218,833

1,669,491

37,647

1.831.509

5.757.480

(37,647)
n .831.5091

n .869.1561

$  3.888.324

2023-

$  2,237,914

2,027,517
53,895

1.556.493

5.875.819

■  (53,895)
n.556.4931

f1.610.3881

$' 4.265.431

The Organization has a goal to maintain unrestricted cash on hand to meet 30
days of normal operating expenditures, which are, on average, approximately
$1,700,000 and $2,320,000 at May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
Organization has a $250,000 line of credit available to meet cash flow'needs.

NOTE 16 IN-KIND' CONTRIBUTIONS/SERVICES
The Organization records the value of in-kind contributions according to the
accounting policies described (see Note 1).

*  » ' t

The fair value of gifts in kind included contributions in the financial statements and
the corresponding .program expenses for the years ended May 31:' '

Volunteer hours

Head Start and Early Head Start

2024

S 64.736

2023
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NOTE 17 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

The beginning net assets for the year ended May 31. 2023 have been restated to
properly reflect the amount of income and refundable advances relating to
program costs. Unrestricted net assets at May 31, 2023 have been increased by

.$196,870.

NOTE 18 RECLASSIFICATION

Certain amounts and accounts from the prior year's financial statements \were
reclassified to enhance comparability with the current year's financial.

NOTE 19 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the statement of
financial position date, but before financial statements are available to be
issued. Recognized subsequent events are events or transactions that provide
additional evidence about conditions that existed at the statement ot financial
position date, including the estimates inherent in "the process of preparing
financial statements. Nonrecognized subsequent events are events that provide
evidence about conditions that did not exist at the statement of financial position
date, but arose after that date. Management has evaluated subsequent events
through December 13,^2024, the date the financial statemenls'were available to
be issued.
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SCHEDULE OF EXrENDnuRES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE rtAR EMOgP MAY U m*

FEDERAL ORANTORf

RASS-THROUQH ORAWORffROORAM TTTLE

U.8. Qwwiwwil ot AnHcimuf

SpMiil Supplwnm NulrMn Program Mr

wamon, kilwu. *nO CnUroA (WC)

CiM anO AM Cor« Fooo Progitm

Food OlatrlSutton Ckrator

Commee«r SupoMmomol FegO Progrem
CommeOKy 8upgl«m*ntol Food Progrom (FoM CommoantM)

TeulU.S. Dopwtmon ol Agrieutui*

U.8. Dooirtmwn of Houtloa and Urbow 0»v«>nBm.M

CorniHMy DavaMomaol Block Oraio/Stoto'i Program and
NoA-Enuiomont Orarui n Hanrai

Emarganey SoMont OroM Program

CardaHium or Cara Program

CanHMium ol Cara Program

CoMatuum al Cara Program
Conumrum o> Cara Program
Contviirum ol Cara Program

Total U S Oagonmant or Moualng and UrOan Ori aiopmani

U.S. BaooftmarH rH TfartarwtaWBti Fadaral TrarwW Aamltr4alT»Wpn IFTAI

Formuta Grans lor Rural Araaa

Tranad Sarvlcaa Programa Clualar
Ennancad UaCdCy ol Santera and InSMduatt Mih OlaaMOai

Total U.S. Daeartmam el Trantponaocn Fadaral Tranaa Adrnmavatsn (FT*)

ASSISTANCE

LSTWO

NUMBER

tO.SST

to US

lO.SSS

10S8S

ia.231-

14 2B7

14 367

14 367

14 367

14.367

PASS-THROUOH

aRANTQR-S NAME

Stala'ol NH. Oapartmam el Haain S Human Saraca*

Sat* ol NH, Oapartmam or Education

Communoir Aeaon Program Banmap-Wammacli Counoaa

Community Action Program Balknap-Mammacli Counoaa

City ol Cloramont

State OINH, OHHS, Bureau olHouaIng Swoporla

StaM ol NH, OHHS. Bureau or Houaatg Suppors
SMaelNH, OHHS. Bureau einouaing Supporta
State 01 NH, OHHS. Bwaau ol Houaatg Stopors
SSM Ol NH, OHHS, Bureau ol Houamg Suppom
Statt ol NH. OHHS, Bureau ol Houaatg Supporta

Stota ol NH, Oaponrriam ol Tranaportaoon

Swa ol NH, Oapartmard ol Tronapcrtaaon

QRAHTOR-S NUMBER

- 334NHOS2M300e<rttodartWatlon),

234NH7O3W10O3 (WK), 3J4NH743VVS003

(Wpc)-

Unlutevin

Unknown

21-322.COPF-CV

E-21.0C-U400I

NHO0eeLtT0O22O7

NHOOSTL1T0O2213

NH00P3L1T0O23O7

NH0074L1Tb02210
NH001SL1T00231S

NH-2021-018-01

FEDERAL

EltPENDtTURE

4,600

131.356

68,116

388,308

313,847

130,380

163.747

343,686

145,154

686.501

1.333178

440.736

89 335

538.861

Sea Notoa to ScPaduta at Ezpandluiroa ol Fadam Atawda



gOUTMWf«T»BMCOMM<IMrTY llf»V>rF< Mr

SCHEOULC OF EXPCNOITUReS OF PEOERAl AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR fNDED MAY m«

FCOERAl ORANTORf

PASa-TmOUOM ORAHTORffROORAHI TITLJ

U.S. OntWnl a1 Tf»««utv

Emwg*ncy R*nuiAMiiunct Progivn

TouiU.S 0*p>rtm*M«ITrNtury

UiLBtttKBBOlSllDtQDt
W—gwnniioa AiMttnc* lot LswMncetno PortetM

Wooswrbisan Aotitanco let Low liKoino Ponom

ToulV.S Ooootvnotil el Enorgy

UJ. Puflmow el Wooim A StvlM.

ARlng CluUor
Spoolal Ptogtomt lot the Aging. TUo III. Pon 8.
Oronu lot SwooeitNi Sotvcot end Soniot Contoto

Spociol Progtatm lot Dm Agmg. Tdo III, Pott 8.
Otonn lot Stcpotttv* 8otvie«« one Soniot Conot*

AcMlot 10 Su'oeotl SUM, TriMl Local otM TotmetisI (STLT)
MooBi Dopattmoni RotpenM e PiiCOe hooDi ot HooEheate

Cnoo*

Low ktcotiM Mcuioftoia Watot Aooiotanco Progrom

LOW IncotTM Hotno Energy Aoorttanco (Fuel Aiololanco)
Low mcotTM HottM Energy Aouuonce (BWP)

COVlO-lSComtnunty Setvcee BloeA Gton

Cotntngtwy SeniAcei BUcfc Qtem • Otoeteiionety

ASSIST ANCe

USTWO

HUMBER

PASS-THROUOH

ORAMTOR-SHAMB

21.073 New Herrgwate houung Finance AiiOionly

11.042 Siale ol NH, Oepanmem 01 Energy
•1.042 SaieoiNK, DepanmeMolEnargy

03 044 State 01NH, Oepotimeni ol Energy

03 044 State el NH, OMHS. Sureeu el EHetly 1 Aout Setvieee

03.301 Stale el NH. Depatanent el HeeBi'l Human Semcee

03.400 State ol NH. Oepanmetit el Energy

03.961 StaieolNH. OepartmentolEnergy
03 968 StaiaelNH. OepertmeniolEneigy

03.960 Saia ol NH ■ OHHS. Owiaen ol Ecen«t«e Staetlty
03.960 Stile el NH • OHHS, ONieen el Eeonetrac 1 HouuigSiiPRty

03.930 Stale el NK Oepattinent el HealDi 1 Human Setvcet

OE-EEOOOOei6

DE-£E0Ot0OOO1

' 2I01NHCIASS

7301NHOASS; 2301NHOiA88

NH790T00003I

7101NHLWCSi«

3IOtNHLWC9«

O-2701NHLIEA

7301NHCO3R

2001NHCSC3

FEDERAL

EXPgWOITURg

267,780

288.934

8.721

25.118 1 31,830

8.602,848

482.306

330.184
26.988

376.690

149.924

364.743

24.214

See Nelee le Schedule el Ezpentllturea el Federal Aawde
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SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITUREa OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE TEAR iMPFO MAY i1 m*

FEDERAL ORANTORf

PASS-THROUOH ORAHTOR/RROORAM TITLE

LI3TIN0

wuwatR

FASS-THROUOH

.  ORAHTOrSHAMe nRAMTITfr*mil.RFR

FEDERAL

FIRFHOfTURF

US. ft»n»fBwwl ol H«»W. A Muwit SfvKM lt.MHH.utn

H*M Sun ClutWr

HMdSun 83 600 Oirtcl Funding 01CH011494 3.363,118

Emtrgvney FeoS WM Sn«tw NnonH Bowd PragfMn 87.0I< UnUdWarWttWMd* 4I-SS2000 003 t.sal

Teul U.S. OvpwinuK el Meesn S Human SaMcei » 11463 613

TOTAL
'

8 14.607.665

Sm HotM to ScheduW o4 Exp^ndlturM 9i F«dtril Awanti



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF, EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31. 2024

NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule)
Includes the federal award activity of .Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
under programs of the federal government for the year 'ended May 31, 2024. The
informatiori in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200. Uniforin Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for'Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion'of
the operations of Southwestern Community Services, Inc., it is not intended to
and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flpws
of the Organization..

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of
accounting. Such expenditures are recognized, following the cost'principles
contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not
allowable or are,limited as to reimbursement.

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE

Southwestern Cornmunity Services, Inc. has elected not to use the ten percent
de minimis indirect cost,rate allowed under the Uniform,Guidance.

NOTE 4 ' FOOD DONATION
Nonmonetary assistance is reported in'the Schedule at the fair value of the
commodities received and disbursed.

NOTE 5 SUBRECIPIENTS

Southwestern Community Services, Inc. had no subrecipients for the year ended
May 31. 2024.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
.IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors of

Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial .audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated
financial statements of Southwestern Community Services, Inc. ,(a New Hampshire nonprofit
corporation) and related companies, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as of May 31, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of activities,'functional
expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 13, 2024.

Report on Internal Control Over Firianctial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, but' not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion.on the effectiveness of Southwestern Community Services,
Inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, ,or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weaknessAs a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's consolidated financial statements will not
be prevented, or.detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of the internal.-control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Giveri these limitations, during
our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Southwestern Community Services,
Inc.'s consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,:
noncompliance.with which could have a direct and material effect on the consolidated financial
statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under GovemmenfAtyd/f/ng Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpcse'of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing, of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Organization's inte/nal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of ah audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
Organization's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable
for any other purpose.

Wolfeboro, New Hampshire
December 13, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

To.the Board of Directors of
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. . •

Report on CompHahce for Each Major Federal Program

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
We have audited Southwestern Community Services, 'inc.'s (a New Hampshire nonprofit
corporation) compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the 0MB
Compliance Supplement that could have a dir'ect and material effect on each of Southwestern
Community Services, Inc.'s major federal. programs for -the year ended May 31, 2024.
.Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s major federal programs are identified in the summary
of auditors' results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, Southwestern Community Services, Inc. complied, in all material respects, with
the compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs for the year ended May 31, 2024.

Basis for Opinion on Each Miaior Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance Mn accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America: the standards applicable to financial'audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200;
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform
Guidance are further described in the Auditors'.Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
section of our report.

We are required to be independent of Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and to'meet.our
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for eacl) major federal program. Our audit, does
not provide a legal determination of Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s compliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above. ^

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance
Management is responsible for compliance with the .requirements referred to above and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective Internal control over compliance with the
requirerrients of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant
agreements applicable to Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s federal programs.
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with
the compliance requjrements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and
express an opinion on Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s compliance based on our
audit. Reasonable assurance is a high leyel of assurance but. is not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards, Government AuditingiStandards, and the Uniform Guidance will always
detect material noncompliance when it'exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance ̂
resulting from fraud Js higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of ̂ internal control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about Southwestern
Community Services, Inc.'s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program
as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Government
Aud/f/ng Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: - '

•  Exercise professional Judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout ■
the audit.'

•' Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or
(  ■ error,.and design and perform'audit procedures.responsive to those risks.,Such ,

procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding Southwestern '
' Community Services, Inc.'s compliance with the corhpliance requirements referred
to above and perfqrming such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. • .

•  Obtain an understanding of- Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s internal
control over compliance relevant to the audit'in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, and to test and report on Internal control

•  over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the, effectiveness of Southwestern Community
Services, Inc.'s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deftciencies and niaterial
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control over
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility, that material noncompliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected,
on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited "purpose described in
the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance-section above and was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance; Given these limitations, during our
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to
be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

I

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion, on the effectiveness of
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, ho such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance- and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

Wolfeboro, New Hampshire
December 13, 2024
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICFfi INH

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31. 2024

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS

1. The auditors' report expresses an unmodified opinion on whether the consolidated-financial
statements of .Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and related companies were
-prepared in accordance with GAAP. ̂

2. No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements are
reported in the Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control OverFinahcial Reporting
and on Compliance and'Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
^Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. No material weaknesses
are reported. , , ■

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the consolidated ifinancial statements of
Southwestern^Community Services, Inc. and related companies, which would be requirecl
to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing Standards were disclosed during
the audit.

4. No significant deficiencies in internal control .over major federal award prpgrams are
reported in the Independent Auditors' Report-on Compliance for Each Major Program^ and
on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance. No material
weaknesses are reported.

5. The auditors' report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Southwestern
Community Services, Inc. expresses an unmodified opinion on all major federal programs.

6. There were no audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR
200.516(a).

7. The programs tested as major programs were: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development: Continuum of Care Program, ALN 14.267; U.S. Department of Health &
Human Services; Community Services Block Grant, ALN 93.569; and U.S. Department of
Health & Human Services; Head Start, ALN 93.600.

'  .

8. The threshold for distinguishing'Type A and 8 programs was $750,000.'

9. Southwestern Community Services, Inc. was determined to be a low-risk auditee.

FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT

None

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT

None
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Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

/Board of Directors

2025 Composition

Constituent

SEaoR

Cheshire County Sulllyan County

Ron Nason Vacant

SCS Tenant

-

Heather Cameron ^

Head Start Policy Council •

Parent Representative
/

Anne Seattle .

, Newport Service Organization

Private

Sector

Kevin Watterson, Chair

Swamp Bats

Clarke Companies {retired}

Dorhlnic Perkins,

Treasurer/Secretary -
Senior VP, Retall Administration

Savings Bank of Walpole

David Edkins, Vice-C/io/r

Town of Walpole

Ker^ Belknap Morris, M.Ed.
Early Childhood Education

River Valley Community College

Public

Sector

Jay Kahn

.Current Mayor, City of Keene

, Forrher State Senator, District 10

Andy Bohannon-

Deputy City Manager

City of Keene

Derek Ferland

Sullivan County Manager

Vacant

Rev. 04.10.25.



KEY ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL

NH DEPT OF ENERGY

Agency Name: Southwestern Community Services. Inc.

Program NamerWAP DOE25

i ^ ^ ^ » t ''

\  . _

Name & Title Key Administrative Personnel '

Annual Salary Of Key-

Administrative

Personnel

Percentage of ■

Salary Paid By
•Contract

Total .Salary,

/t^dunt Paid By
. Contract

Gabriel Leonard, Energy Conservation Director '$70,000 30.00% $21,000.00^
Sarah Murphy; Energy ConservMton Manager $44,720 30.00% $13.4'16.00

Kristen Field. Ene'ray Conservation Prooram Assistant -  .$40,560 30.00% $12,168.00:

Open, Energy Conservation Project Manager $52,000 30.00% $15,606.00'

Michele Crown, Energy Conservation Project Mgr, PTE, $39,000 30.00% $11,700.00:

Rick Manwaring, Fiscal Specialist, PTE $23,400 30.00% $7,020.00



Gabriel Leonard

Employment History

Southwestern Community Services (Keene, NH) Energy Conservation Director July 2021- Present

Energy Conservation n/lanager Aug 2016-July 2021

•  Responsible for the oversight supervision of the Energy Conservation Program.
•  Handle jn-progress monitoring ofweatherization projects, preparation of requisite work order changes,

and documentation of the historical nature of Individual projects.
•  Create work orders for projects based on field notes & project modeling software supplied by other

Energy Auditors.
•  Supervise daily schedules & duties of the EC staff.
•  Maintain yearly, monthly, daily, invoicing, tracking & papenwork for the EC program:
•  Cornmuhicate effectively with clients, coritractors arid government organizations to foster positive

communication for successful project completions. . . x
.  • Coordinate disbursements of multiple program budgets to ensure maximum project impact and fiscal

cornpetency each program year.

AirSeaspns Construction Corp. (Springfield, \/T).Asslstant Project Manager Nov 2015- Aug 2016

'  Responsible for supporting Project Manager in the planning, management direction, project compietion,
client satisfaction, and financial outcome of assigned construction projects.

•  Create estimates within Sage project management software. '
•  Supports the Project Manager functions such as morithly forecasts, estirhating, and budgeting.
•  Assists,in ensuring that all documentation meets'intemal standards, procedures and specifications.
•  Ensures good, transparent and effectiye reporting and documentation.
•  Delivers all documents in a timely rhanner so'that progress can l)e fully communicated.
•  Communicates with Site.Manager for site project documentations.
•  Responsible for verifying blueprints and construction process on rnuitiple build phases.

New Hampshire Employment Security (Claremont, NH) DVOP Employment Specialist Jan 2015- Nov 2015

•  Disabled Veterans Outreach Program (DVOP) Specialist facilitated workforce services for veterans,
others eligible and employers;

•  Provided specialized woridofce services for veterans, especially veterans with t)arriers to employment,
i.e., job develoj^ment services for veterans, refer veterans to employment/training opportunities, provide
counseling/guidance, and assist veterans with other workforce services (resume assistance, labor
market information, job search workshops, one-stop career center orientation, etc.).

HURLEY OFFICE SOLUTIONS (Randolph, VT) Project Manager Nov 2009- Sep 2014

•  Provided site supervision on a diverse range of commercial office installation projects. Tailored custom
solutions to customer needs. ''V

•  Managed, hired and trained a team of seven employees. Created and implemented a customer service
standard for the organization. ' ^

•  Developed relationships with third party sales representatives to sell Hurtey Office Solutions' services.
•  Negotiated.bids, responded to RFPs and successfully closed contracts.
•  Analyzed the business and marketplace and created a strategic plan for the organization that included

new marketing,'human resources, job site and documentation plans. .



BASIC PSA (Johnstown. PA/ Kennebunk, ME) Snubber Removal & Re|nstallatipn Technlciian

VC Summer Nuclear Power Station ' Oct 2012-Nov 2012
Susquehanna Nuclear Power Station Mar 2012-Apr 2012

Evaluated, removed & reinstalled nuclear snubbers, mechanical and hydraulic shock absorl:>ers, to
. prevent unwanted activity during scheduled power outages paying close attention to all safe^ protocols
and procedures. i ' " .

IBZ CONTRACTING (Spring Valjey, NY) Heavy Equipment Operator Jul 2008 - Aug 2009

•  Managed heavy equipment for a w;aterfront restoration and worked closely with EPA inspectors and
project engineers."

FULLTIME MANAGEMENT (New York, NY) Property Manager Jan" 2008 - May 2008

•  Managed.multipleresidential properties, with responsibilities including general upkeep, small repairs
and tenant relations. ' ' ^

FIN.ESTKIND HANDYCRAFTSMEN (Kitsap County. WA) Proprietor Dec 2004 - Jan 2007

•  Coordinated contracts for construction, successfully managed crew and contracts to ensure timely and
satisfactory corhpletion of projects.

•  Provided services including finish carpentry; masonry, drywall, interior / exterior painting,- residential
electrical and plumbing, landscaping, roofing, and decking. > ~

UNITED STATES NAVY (Bremerton, WA & San Diegq, CA) ' Nov 2002 - Dec 2007
USS John C Stennis, CVN 74, Kitsap Navy Base & Coronado Navy Base

Aviation Ordnance Specialist Supeivisor' Nov 2004 ; Dec 2007
Aviation Ordnance. SF^iallst Nov 2002 - Nov 2004

•  Instructed, supervised and evaluated the performance of 60 personnel and oversaw $1 billion plus of
highly sensitive weapon's and na^.speciflc heavy equipment. , ' ,

•  Communicated effectively in 'diverse and hostile environments, both with personnel and upper
management under stressful conditions. >. ■

Education
^  •

GRANITE STATE CdLLEGE (Concord, NH) B.S. Business Management, GPA 3.72 magna cum laude 2014
f  ' - ' .

CPR CERTIFIED NATIONAL HEART ASSOCIATION 2015
*  'm

ASSOCIATED TRAINING SERVICES (Portsmouth. NH)'Heavy Equipment Operation School 2008,

NAVY LEADERSHIP PROGRAM (USS John C Stenrils, CVN 74) 2004



■ Sarah Murphy
Energy Conservation Program Manager
Southwestern Community Services

Professional Experience "' ,

Energy Conservation Program Manager ' January,2022- Present

-  ' Support the Program Director in the planning, management, direction, project completion, and client
satisfaction on outcome of projects.

-  Assist with the closing out of energy conservation projects through the billing and invoicing process.
Oversee client eligibility and enrollment regarding program priories and grant criteria.

-  Manage waitlist priority system to streamline auditor scheduling, reduce deferrals, and exceed utility
production goals.

Energy Conservation Pr^ram Assistant February 2018 - Jianuary 2022

. - Provide administrative support to the Weatherization Team including general office management, data^
entry, and electronic file system maintenance. "

-  Organize information and application packets for clients and program^ contractors. .
-  Prioritize client communication and serve as a liaison with the public, participants, and agency staff.

Process supply and equipment orders and research and enroll Training & Technical Assistance
opportunities for contractors and staff. • ,

Energy Services Intake Specialist ' May 2015 - February 2018

-  Maintained program integrity when qualifying a high-volurne of income eligible households seeking
federal, state, and utility-funded energy assistance. - ^

- Worked with participants to prevent heating emergencies, obtain conservation services, vendor
mediation, and benefits management.

-  Assisted the Fiscal Department with participant benefit payment monitdring.and validation.
-  Referred participating households and interested community partners to area resources and agency

programs.

Landmark College Enrollment & Student Affairs Associate , November 2013 - January 2015

-  Addressed phone, walk-in and email inquiries relative to campus visits and the'applicatiori process.
-  Provided support to Admissions, Enrollment Management Directors, and Dean of Students

Processed data for travel leads, recruitment, and transfer services.

Assisted with event organization, admissions projects, college fairs, and student visits.
-  Orgariized.departrhent files arid records, ensuring confidentiality.

Training and Education

2023 - A to Z Grant Wrltjrig, Ke'ene State.College, Graduate Studies & Extended Education

2022 - Non-Profit Management, Keene State College, Graduate Studies & Extended Education

2019 - Building Science Principles Certificate of Knowledge, BPI

2017 T Green Dot etc. Instructor Certification, Green Dot Institute

2016 - Connecticut Comrnunity for Addiction.Recovery (CCAR), Recovery Coach Academy

2015 - Associate of Science, Human Services River Valley Community College

2003 - Associate in Applied Science, Marketing Long Island University, Brooklyn
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KRISTEN FIELD
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EXPERIENCE

ENERGY CONSERVATION PROGRAM ASSISTANT
SOUTHWE^RN COMMUNITY SERVICES- KEENE. NH

January 2022 - Present
Direct client communication regaining the Weatiierteatlon program

process; n^ntalnlng waitlists, priority lists, dient outreach; administration
of the 21 In 21 community project Including client communication and

managing scheduling ortierihg supplies for ECP si^ creating.and
maintaining trdnlng materials for ̂ ency staff; onboi&rding new stafh

processing Incoming program mail; oti>er duties as assigned

.SKILLS

In-depth.knowledge of
trauma Informed care

Compassionate "

Knovdedge of local
i^urces

Calm demeanor, even In

crisis

&cceilent time.rnaitagement
Strong ability Co hold space
for others

Strong office skills
(organized, accurate, written
comrnunlculon, etc)

. Experience diffuslhg difficult

situadons

Extensive knowledge of
men^ health diagnosis' and
neurodlversl^

Knowledge of court systems
and le^ procedures

ENERGY SERVICES INTAKE TECHNICIAN

SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES - KEENE, NH
'  , . February 2018 - Present

Processing applications for clients wishing to apply for fuel.and dectric
assistance; determining which households fit the criteria for energy
' emergencies; referrals to outside agencies for additional assistance;
responsible for creating of Intake Technician and Program Assistant

Training Manutis; often called upon to create or re-vamp, forms and dlent
coirespohdence

PROGRAM ASSISTANT

SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES - I^ENE, NH
June 2017 — Februaiy 2018

Reception duties; accepting deliveries: routing client calls to the i^)propriate
^program; diffusing angry dients in the lobby to determine how. to best serve
,  them; working within the Fuel Assistance Pro^am to provide derical

support; scheduling appointments for staffi assisted with mass'mtillhgs;
'' other duties as assigned

^  PRODUCTION ASSISTANT ,
C.E. BRADLEY LABORATORIES- BRATTLEBORO. VT

September 2015-June 2017

Contact and coordin^e pick-ups and ship-outs with various tiansportation
companies; Log arid record refolns for later testing and sampling; data
entry; create bill of ladings for shipments and customs paperwork for

shlpmmts out of country

nIP
J u

-7

y



n
u

n

u

/

\ \

BILLING CLERK

C.E. BRADLEY LABORATORIES - BRATTLEBpRO. VT
JaniAiy 2012 - ̂ptember 2015

Invoice customers for orders placed; Tnurk usage and ̂ les; Check prldr^
for Incoming orders as well ,as updating raw material cosa and filing prfdhg

cards; Answer phones and respond to a variety of customer Inquiries .

CUSTOMER SERVICE

UNITED NATURAL ̂OODS, INC - CHESTERFIELD, NH

September 2006 - August 2008; January 2010 - May 2011
ProcMsii^ orders for customers; answering questions regarding products
and dellveriw; listen to customer coniplalnts and resolve to the best of my
ability; created allocatidn orders for Whole Foods; worked dosely .wlth the

Operations Manager to create orders for Blue'Marble Brwds

QUALITY CONTROL ASSOCIATE

' UNltED NATURAL FOODS, INC - CHESTERFIELD; NH
August 20piB-January 2010

Organized and collected organlc'certification for over 800 vendors; verified
all legal Information on cd^ficat^ F^rtainlng to USDA regulations;
processed credits for vendors on returned product; ran out of stock

report for accounting

RECEPTION

WINSTON L. PROUTY CENTER - B.RATTLEBORO, Vt

March 2006 - ̂ptember 2006
Answered phones; Greeted parents coming Into office; Hdped to organize

fund-raising drives; Helped to put Infonratibn together for state
certification

RECEPTION

STATE FARM INSURANCE AGENCY - BRATTLEBORO, VT

March 2006 - September 2006

Entered billing information for customers: entered pcsyments Into system;
answered phones; began insurance process for new customers

u
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EDUCATION

B J\. FORENSIC fWCHCLOGV-loie
MINOR IN CRIMINAL JUSTICE
South(^ New Hampshire University

CPA- Z7.;
Classes Included Abnormal psychology; introduction to Psychology;
Introdu^on to Criminal Justice; Corrections In the US; Counseling

Processes; Crime and VioIence;'CrimInal Law; Criminal Psychology; Ethics
and the Criminal Justice Leader: Forensic liw; Forensic Psychology; Human

Growth and Development; Intr^uco'on to Human Services; Juvenile
Justice; .Offender Rehabilitation; Psychology of Personality: ^ychopaths,

.  Sodopaths, and Serial Killers; Research inve^gatlbh; Sociology of Crime
and Violence; Sociology of Deviant Biehavior; Victims and this justice System

CERTIFICATION IN PEER TRAUMA RECOVERY COACHING
The International Association of Traurna Recovery Coaching

Material covered Includes: Introduction to Trauma and Itt Impact on
Children; Intergeneratlonal Trauma:'P5ychologlcal, Emotional, and

Relation^ Impart of Traum^ Addiction and Trauma Informed Care:
Attachment and Attunement; Basic Coaching Sldlls; Trauma Recovery
Coaching Skills; Adjunctive and Support Tools; Appointment protocols
(Including establishing client safety); Bodyworiq Self-Care for Coaches;

various business related lectures

This certification program also Includes 12 hours of coiadiing practice; S
hours of pr^cum coaching; a certification exam; and a portfolio

M '

CONTINUING EDUCATION

Virtual Trauma Sumrhit - June 22'"' arid 23'^ 2020: 20 C^s
Virtual Trauira Summit - June 19«» and 20'*^ 2021:20 CECs

nnTUN n
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Michele R. Crown

Employment History

February 2023 to present: Southwestern Community Services
Energy Conservatiph Program as Project.Manager

July 2019 to November 2020: Bus Driver for Southwestern
Community Sen/ices in Sullivan County

pctober 2005 to August 2016: Southwestern'Community Services,
Weatherization Manager

" Once the energy audits are done^ I model the projects. I communicate
with the homieowner on what measures we yvould like to do to their
home. I coordinate with the contractor to do .the work. After the final
audit, complete the model and submit for.final approval. Close out the
paperwork and documentation arid billing data. Supervise sta&:
I have also done special projects as they arose.

I have worked in the Housing Maintenance department doing
apartment turnovers, and all the normal mainteriance and repair
issues that arise, afqng with snow rernoval at the Sullivan County
properties. I arn familiar with all ofjhe SCS properties.

August 1999 to October 2005: Home Depot, 22 Ashbrook Road,
Keehe, NH 03431 (60i)-335-2113.

Lhave worked in several areas of the store, including bookkeeping,
sales associate, arid inventory management.
For one year I was Team Depot Captain for Community Projects.

July 1998 to August 1999: J.H. Dunning, Main St., North Walpole,
NH 03609 (6q3)-445-5591.

Machine and building maintenance, special projects (e.g., prototypes
for new products). Supervise the manufacture of the prototype fro'm
conception to finished product. Ordering tools and monitoring supply
requirements for projects. Drafting, (e.g., scaled drawings for
prototypes). I also superyised employees.

October 1996 to July 1998: Sears, 200 Loudon Road, Concord NH,
03301.

Sales Associate in plumbing and seasonaj.



May 1993 to October 1996: Shaker Pine Reproductions, 418
Shaker Road, Canterbury, NH 03244 (603)-783-4403.

Manufactured Shaker Reproductions of fine furniture; supervised
employees; supply monitoring and ordering. Taught hand ciit
dovetailing at Canterbury Shaker Village.

April 1991 to October 1995: Canterbury Shaker Village, 288
Shaker Road, Canterbury, NH 03244, 603-783-9511.
Grounds keeping and equipment maintenance. Set-up for special
events. Supervised volunteers and community service workers for
special projects. Restoration carpentry on historic buildings.

1990 through 1994: Self employed as ̂Crown Carpentry'. ^
Did minor home renovations and repair. I am experienced in rough
and finished carpentry, minor plumbing and electrical, sheet rocking,
ceramic tile work, and hew construction. I did the warranty work on
modular homes at Pine Ridge in Loudon. Have 30 years of working
experience. . '



Richard Manwarlng

Professional Business Experience

,  L.A. Burdick Chocolate, Walpole NH Get 2021 to Jan 2023

Manufacturer and retail cafis of high-end chocolates, pastries and hot cocoa

Part-Time Finance Manager

Responsible for all accounting functions for rnanufacturing and 6 retail.cafes

• Accomplishments

Stabilized small accounting staff including recruiting and training my successor

Continued implementation of NetSuite with focus on accounting controls *'

Installed cash controls at'caf^ and corporate level

GS Precision, KeeneNH Jan 2021 to Get 2021

Manufacturer of critical components for the Aerospace and Defense Industries

Controller

Maintain financial records for 11 legal entities

• Accomplishments

Quickly learned month end cipsjng process for 11 separate legal companies

Improved weekly cash flow reporting to improve accuracy and include weekly variance,
reporting

Applied and receiving $2.4M federal grant

401k Trustee

»• rr

Hlllsjde Village, Keene,NH , Sep 2019 to Jan 2021

A

A senior living facility

Accounting Director V

Responsible for financial leadership and all accounting functions



« Accpmplishments

Untangled millions of dollars of accounting errors which prevented Board from financial
visibility and would have failed a clean audit

Implemented multiple software packages to help streamline accounting
operations /

Mentored Accounting Assistance who transitloned to the Accounting Director
.  ' '

Formed Resident FInanceCommlttee to allow residents a voice In financial

situation

Samson Manufacturing Corp., Keerie, ISIH , May 2017 to Sept 2019

A manufacturer of gun accessories and components • .

Chief Financial Officer

Responsible for financial leadership'and all accounting functions

• Accomplishments

Playing key role in .ERP implementation especially in creating'new reporting'structures and
product costing . *

Implemented inventory'reporting changes to facilitate accurate monthly repoi^ing^

Determined critical financial metrics'fbr senior management •

Discovered year end revenue recognition error creating tax savings of $30,000

Negotiated with bank the Immediate elimination of midyear CPA compilation creating $16,000.
savings ,

Vermed Inc., Bellows Falls, NH" 2005 to 2017
(•

A manufacturer and distributor of medical sensors

Finance Director . .. '

Responsible for accounting functions, payroll, IT, and various benefit administration

• Accomplishments

*  ' * • -•

Established and managed SOX compliance when company was publicly traded company"
Including quarterly internal audits and annual external audits

Participated In management buyout with senior-managers Mvihg company from being
purchased by competitors and closing plant

" Secured highlyjieveraged buyout'financing 90% of purchase price with funding from sevetal
sources and Closed deal in 60 days

Remained compliant with all banks and taxing authorities

• Transitloned systems and IT needs to new buyers including significant changes to our product
costing systiems ..



New England Business Services, Peterborough NH 1999 to 2004

A manufacturer ofprinted business form's for small companies

Plant Financial Manager

Responsible for month end closing, forecasting, and financial analysis

• A^mplishments

Improved weekly performance review process by rtiore accurately reporting department and
.  plant rollups and providing models to better measure product mix and volume impacts.

Incorporated key cost drivers to weekly perforrnance reporting to better determine shprt-term
business outlook

Developed profitability model for complex business line; model Is based on ABC principles and
has been used as a template for other divisions to^help understand both profitable product lines

and sales channels ' ' .

•,lmproved inventory cycle count accuracy and reduced average amount of inventory adjustments.

Developed and implemented product costing systern for new or customized products

Managed multi plant project to centralize accounting^procedures where possible, to ensure
consistency among plants, and identify areas for process.improvement

TFX Medical, Jaffrey, NH ' , 1992 to 1999
.■* 1 f

Ah.OEM manufacturer of plastic tubing and disposable medical supplies
*  ̂

Controller

I  • ' '
' Responsible fo/ all accounting functions for multiple divisions and reporting units

•. Accomplishments

Managed software implementation of GL, Order Entry; Inventory Management, Purchasing, ■
Shipping, Receiving, and MRP modules

Assumed additional management responsibilities for Information Systems, Purchasing,
Materials, and Shipping/Receiving; performed accounting functions for multiple divisions and
reporting units

Achieved working capital improvement 4 consecutive.years, with specific improvementsto
Collections, Accounts Payable and Inventory management

.Achieved successful year end audits consistently; recognized as having excellent accounting
controls and practices

. Developed and implemented an Hourly Pension Plan and a Profit Sharing Plan

Established HR policies and procedures and created system link from MR to payroll to improve
accuracy and reduce^payrbll costs

*  » »

Education

MBA, Franklin Pierce College, Rindge, NH

- BS, Accounting, Bentley.College,Waltham, MA


